
Children's Scrutiny Panel 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Scrutiny Panel to be held as 
follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Wednesday, 11 September 2019

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Committee Room 4, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  1.30pm - Members only briefing 

2  Apologies for Absence 

3  Declarations of Interest 

4  To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held 
on 10 July 2019 

(Pages 1 - 4)

5  Support offer to Young Carers (Cathy Starbuck/Jane 
Rogers/Debbie Fallon/Sam Palmer [from Gaddam]) 

(Pages 5 - 80)

6  The Work Programme (Pages 81 - 90)

7  Any Other business 

8  Date, time and business for next meeting - Wednesday 9 October 
2019 at 2pm 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2811
Liz Wright E-Mail: liz.wright@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN’S SCRUTINY PANEL

Date of meeting: 10th July 2019

Meeting commenced: 2.00 p.m.
Meeting ended: 4.45 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Brocklehurst – in the Chair

Councillors Jim Cammell, Laura Edwards, Mike McCusker, Lewis Nelson, Mike Pevitt, 
Neil Reynolds, Madeline Wade, Joan Walsh and Ronnie Wilson 

Co-opted Members – Seamus Martin (Parent Governor rep), Keith Archer (Church of 
England rep) and Judith Elderkin (Teachers rep)

OFFICERS: Charlotte Ramsden – Strategic Director People
Claire Edwards – Democratic Services

MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:
Mr. Carter

1. INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

The Chair welcomed those present to the meeting.

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Jillian Collinson, Claire Harrison and 
Jacquie Morrissey.

The Chair reported that Claire Harrison would not be attending future meetings due to her having taken 
on an additional role and feeling unable to give the required level of commitment to the Panel.  The 
Chair requested that the Panel’s thanks be forwarded to Claire along with their best wishes for the 
future.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 12th June 2019 were agreed as a correct record, subject to (a) 
Minute 1 (Introductions and Apologies for Absence) being amended to indicate that an apology for 
absence had been submitted on behalf of Claire Harrison, and (b) Minute 4 (Work Programme 
Development) being amended to indicate that Councillor Edwards (rather than Councillor Brocklehurst) 
would be leading on the sub group regarding Mental Health and Young People.

4. BUSINESS PLAN PRIORITIES TO INFORM WORK PROGRAMMING FOR 2019/20

Charlotte Ramsden gave a presentation with regard to Business Planning 2019-2020 in respect of the 
Children’s Service Group, which included information in relation to the following –

 Business Planning Approach
 0-25 Transformation Context for Planning
 We want all children and young people in Salford to achieve their potential
 Joint Commissioning Priorities
 0-25 Plan on a Page

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 Corporate Business Plan
 Directorate Business Plan

Discussion took place during which Charlotte Ramsden responded to questions / issues raised by Panel 
Members as summarised below –

(i) What action was being taken to facilitate transition from primary to secondary school with a view to 
improving attainment at Key Stage 4?  

Information was provided regarding the work that had been undertaken in relation to the transition 
protocol in order to ensure that a clear understanding of pupils’ needs was obtained during the 
transition process.  This had included Year 6 children participating in several transition days at 
secondary school, and Key Stage 3 teachers visiting Year 6 pupils at their primary school.  This 
enabled teachers to observe the standard of work that pupils were capable of prior to transition and 
encouraged the formation of strong relationships between pupils and their teachers.

(ii) What was being done in respect of Pupil Place Provision, particularly with regard to the increasing 
numbers of pupils requiring secondary school places and places at special schools?  How was this 
affected by legislation in relation to Free Schools and academies?

A piece of work regarding pupil place provision was currently in progress and was due to be 
completed in the near future.  Earlier identification of pupils with special educational needs had 
partly contributed to the increased demand for places at special schools.  Salford had successfully 
bid for an additional special secondary school for 50 pupils with Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) 
and Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH), which meant that it would be possible for children 
requiring such places to be educated within the city.  Reference was made to the government’s 
recent announcement that a free school was to be located in Salford.  Background information was 
provided which included reference to the Council itself being unable to open new schools and to the 
city’s strategic approach to free schools that had been agreed by Cabinet in November 2018.  
Charlotte Ramsden suggested that Pupil Place Planning be considered at a future meeting and this 
would include an update regarding the location of a free school in the city.

(iii) What support was provided to the poorest performing schools at Key Stage 4 to help bring their 
performance up to a reasonable level.

Information was provided regarding the process for school improvement that was in place in respect 
of both primary and secondary schools which involved the close monitoring of progress and outputs, 
consideration being given to the support that was in place and the support that was needed, and the 
provision of targeted support to under-performing schools where required – not only in terms of 
attainment but also in relation to other issues such as emotional wellbeing and special educational 
needs.

(iv) Why were there no Muslim faith schools located in Salford?  Was data regarding Muslim pupil 
numbers held by the Council?

Information was held by the Council in relation to Muslin pupil numbers.  The faith schools that were 
located in the City had been in existence for many years.  The Council itself was unable to open 
new schools.  The Council supported the provision of schools where faith could be practised and 
was respected.

(v) With regard to the 0-25 Plan on a Page, a query was raised in relation to the RAG ratings that had 
been applied, for example, in respect of People Based Innovations / YP Voice / What will be 
different – ‘children learn the skills for life tailored to their needs and delivered in innovative ways’ 
and ‘children and young people influence developments about their lives’ had been rated as green 
(achieved).  

The above ratings would apply to particular pieces of work that had been completed – it was 
indicated that the RAG ratings would be reviewed.

(vi) How many expectant mothers in labour could be accommodated at Ingleside simultaneously?  It 
was indicated that this would be investigated.Page 2



(vii) Reference was made to Irlam and Cadishead College having become part of the United Learning 
Trust in February 2019 when it had been renamed Irlam and Cadishead Academy (ICA).  It was 
hoped that this would facilitate positive change in relation to the school’s performance.  

(viii) Recruitment and retention of social workers.  Salford performed well in respect of attracting newly 
qualified social workers and keeping them.  Difficulties existed with regard to the recruitment of 
experienced social workers, which was a national issue, due to them moving into management or 
agency work.

(ix) With regard to children who had attended a primary school in Salford and then a secondary school 
in another area, was it possible to compare their attainment at Key Stage 4 with pupils who had 
attended the same primary school and then a secondary school in Salford?

Data in respect of outcomes was only available in respect of children attending schools in Salford – 
individual education outcomes were not tracked.  It would be difficult to draw conclusions by 
comparing such data due to the many variables involved including family circumstances, peer group 
influence, etc.  Reference was made to work that was taking place with regard to awareness of 
more recent considerations including coercive and controlling behaviour and parental alienation.  

(x) Work that was being undertaken in relation to the definition of Neglect.  A review was in progress 
involving an independent person who would be working with officers from September regarding the 
implementation of any changes required.

(xi) Work that was being undertaken at Greater Manchester level and by the Community Safety 
Partnership in relation to reducing violence at work.

(xii) A Learning City – this approach involved moving away from exams and qualifications and 
supporting those who felt excluded from formal education and or wanted to continue learning in 
informal ways.  It was intended that this approach be built into the transition process with a view to 
improving outcomes at Key Stage 4.

Reference was made to the availability of on-line courses and it was suggested that more could be 
done to make people aware of the on-line learning opportunities that were available.

Reference was also made to work that was already taking place in communities involving the 
informal teaching of various skills which could be developed further.

The Panel gave consideration to items for consideration at future meetings as follows –

Date of Meeting Item

11 September 2019 Support Offer to Young Carers

*9 October 2019 Pupil Place Planning

*13 November 2019 Key Stage 4 Attainment
Transition Work between Years 6 and 7

11 December 2019 Training / Briefing Session:
- Reasons why children go into care
- Causes of family breakdown
- Update on No Wrong Door
- Extra-curricular activities available and how they are promoted

12 February 2020 Managed Move Process in Salford (to include information regarding the 
processes undertaken by other authorities)

11 March 2020 Recruitment and Retention of Foster Carers

Page 3



* The order of the items listed for October and November differs from the suggested order due to 
clarification having been provided following the meeting regarding the availability of Key Stage 4 data.

Discussion also took place in respect of the following –

 Learning City to be included on the Abeyance List.
 Mental Health and Young People Sub-Group – it was noted that Councillor Edwards would be leading 

the sub group supported by Councillors Collinson, Nelson and Pevitt.  In addition, Councillors Cammell 
and Reynolds offered their support. 

 Dental Health – it was suggested that the report that had been produced by the Health & Adults 
Scrutiny Panel be circulated with the agenda for the next meeting for discussion by the Panel.

RESOLVED: (1) THAT Charlotte Ramsden be thanked for her informative presentation, the content of 
which be noted.

(2) THAT the discussion be noted and the items indicated above be included on the Panel’s
Work Programme.

(3) THAT the Work Programme be included on the agenda for all future meetings.

5. SHARON HUBBER – ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, SPECIALIST SERVICES

The Chair reported that Sharon Hubber would be leaving the Council in the near future.  He placed on 
record his thanks, on behalf of the Panel, for all the work that Sharon had undertaken and wished her 
every success for the future.

Page 4



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF

TO 

Children’s Scrutiny Panel

ON 
11th September 2019

TITLE: Salford All Age Carers Strategy April 2019 – 2024

RECOMMENDATIONS: To be noted

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: Salford has a shared vision for carers: a ‘carer friendly’ city 
that ensures that the wellbeing of our diverse carers is maximised. This strategy is a 
‘call to action’ across the Salford partnership to grasp the opportunities and deliver 
the changes that will further enhance the lived experience of carers in Salford. 

The strategy has been informed by extensive engagement work hearing the lived 
experience of carers across Salford. The views of carers have been published in a 
separate document, the Carers Needs Assessment.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:
All Age Carers Strategy 2019-2024 (DRAFT)
Strategy Presentation – Overview

KEY DECISION:  NO

DETAILS: 
A carer is someone of any age who supports, unwaged, a relative, partner or friend 
who due to physical or mental illness, disability, frailty or addiction could not manage 
without that support.   

Salford has a shared vision for carers: a ‘carer friendly’ city that ensures that the 
wellbeing of our diverse carers is maximised. This strategy is a ‘call to action’ across 
the Salford partnership to grasp the opportunities and deliver the changes that will 
further enhance the lived experience of carers in Salford.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



2

Salford has fully adopted the ‘Greater Manchester Carer’s Charter’ and this strategy 
outlines how we are going to deliver this here in Salford.

After describing the national and local strategic context of carers, the strategy goes 
on to outline Salford’s current provision of support for carers. It then analyses our 
current position to draw conclusions about what is working well, what could work 
better and where the gaps are. The strategy further encourages partners to develop 
their own action plans in response to the strategy.

Strategic Commissioning will ensure an integrated approach to carers work in Salford 
with oversight through the multi-agency Carers Steering Group. This will ensure 
action plans and developments are joined up and partners will be supported so there 
is a consistent understanding of progress.

The strategy has been informed by extensive engagement work hearing the lived 
experience of carers across Salford. The views of carers have been published in a 
separate document, the Carers Needs Assessment.

Salford Integrated Carer Strategy - Objectives
In line with the Greater Manchester Carers Charter, Salford’s objectives are as 
follows:

− Objective One: Identifying Carers
− Objective Two: Improving Health and Wellbeing  
− Objective Three: Carers as Real and Expert Partners   
− Objective Four: Right Help at the Right Time
− Objective Five: Young Carers and Young Adult Carers
− Objective Six: Carers in / into Employment  

This strategy has been developed through a steering group with broad representation 
of local health and social care providers, a number of local voluntary sector 
organisations, Healthwatch Salford and carers.

Our Priorities - Improving support for carers in Salford
Drawing on information from partners and input from carers, this section outlines 
priority areas of work, gaps in current provision and recommendations to improve 
support for carers in Salford.  The section goes on to outlines the key areas of work 
identified below that will inform the action plan of this strategy

− Identification of carers – in order to reach more carers 
− Carers assessments  - to increase the number of assessments and take a 

strength based approach
− Carer’s Personal Budgets/Direct Payments – to increase choice and control of 

care service offer
− Respite and breaks – to provide a more flexible and reliable offer
− Locality based support model – to develop peer support community networks
− Better access to support groups – to ensure services are closer to people’s 

homes

Page 6



3

− Young carers & young adult carers – including better support for them in 
schools and a new standard for GPs to identify young carers. 

− Professionals that are carer aware and knowledgeable of local services
− Carer’s pathway – to enable timely and appropriate access to the right 

professionals 
− Better access to training for carers 
− Support for carers in Secondary Care – across mental and physical health in 

hospital services
− Working carers - implement best practice outlined in the GM ‘working Carers 

toolkit’ 
− Communication strategy – to raise the profile of carers in Salford

Implementation, governance and monitoring of the Carers Strategy

Taking Action: Partners are asked to develop their own action plans on how they 
will work towards the vision and objectives of the strategy and make a difference for 
carers in Salford. Strategic Commissioning will ensure action plans and 
developments will be joined up and partners will be supported so there is a 
consistent understanding of progress.

On-going Engagement with the Community: To ensure that this strategy is 
meaningful and makes a difference to local people, engagement with Salford carers 
and key stakeholders, on the overarching action plan and priority areas of work, will 
continue throughout the lifetime of the strategy. Engagement will continue in a varied 
and flexible approach, offering local people choice about how they engage with the 
on-going work for carers. 

It is intended that a Carers Steering Group will identify and agree a suitable model for 
on-going engagement that ensures that the voice of carers from a range of 
neighbourhood carers groups can link into a wider engagement group. 

Co-design of an Overarching Action Plan: An overarching action plan will be 
developed by the Carers Steering Group.  The overarching action plan will be 
underpinned by an assessment of the strategic priorities, current progress, finance 
requirements and capacity to undertake the work which will help us to manage our 
approach to the range of recommendations in the strategy. Action plans developed 
by partners and other working groups will feed into the overarching action plan.

The overarching action plan will ensure that local Salford people will be able to hold 
the work to account and fully engage with developing and implementing the 
approaches arising from the strategy.

Monitoring of the Action Plan: The Carer’s Steering Group, with representation 
from all key partners will meet regularly to monitor the implementation of the 
overarching action plan and ensure that the views of carers are informing all 
developments.  

Governance of the Strategy and Action Plan: Governance of the carers’ strategy 
through the implementation of the action plan will be through the Adults 

Page 7



4

Commissioning Committee where six monthly updates on the implementation of the 
strategy and action plan will be given. 

Additionally progress on the delivery of the action plan will be monitored through 
engagement with carers groups through the engagement model agreed by the 
Carers Steering Group.

Financial Implications: The Strategy clearly outlines an intention to work with more 
carers and in different ways, outlining a number of areas for review and development.  
Section four in the strategy clarifies which priorities require re-shaping of current 
services and which will lead to the development of new services that will require 
additional funding.

Governance: the strategy has been through the following:
− Joint Leadership Team
− Lead Member Briefing
− Integrated Commissioning Adults Board
− Children and Young Peoples Commissioning Group
− Children and Young People’s Emotional Health & Wellbeing Partnership
− Health and Care Scrutiny Panel
− Health and Care Commissioning Board 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Carers Need Assessment 2019

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: assessment currently 
being undertaken

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Integrated Commissioning, NHS Salford 
Clinical Commissioning Group

CONTACT OFFICER: Jane Roberts TEL NO: 0161 793 2568

Page 8



5

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford All Age Carers Strategy 
April 2019 – 2024

An Integrated Commissioning approach: 
how we plan to make life better for carers in Salford

September 2019

P
age 11



A carer is anyone who cares, unpaid, for a friend or family member 
who due to illness, disability, a mental health problem or an addiction 
cannot cope without their support. (Carers Trust)

A young carer is someone under 18 who helps look after someone in 
their family, or a friend, who is ill, disabled or misuses drugs or alcohol. 

(Carers Trust).

Carers Definition

‘“We need a central point of contact to either ask for help, 
raise questions or sign posting to the right service” (survey)

P
age 12



Salford Carers

 12.2% (24,188) of the Salford population (aged 16+) are carers (Census 

2011)

 Estimates gives a figure of 860 young people aged 5-17 years who 
are carers within Salford (Census 2011)

 A survey of young carers carried out by the BBC  in 2010 found that 
8% of young people were carers (Carers Needs Assessment 2019)

 Majority of carers provide between 1 and 19 hours care  week (Carers 

Needs Assessment 2019)

 Numbers of people providing care rose by 12.7% between 2001 
and 2016 (Carers Needs Assessment 2019)

 In Salford 57% of carers are women and 43% men (Carers Needs Assessment 2019)

P
age 13



Carers Steering group

 Salford CVS

 Salford Age Uk

 HealthWatch Salford

 Salford Carers Service

 Greater Manchester Mental Health 
NHS Foundation Trust (GMMH)

 Salford Care Organisation

 Salford Public Health

 City West Housing Trust

 Salford Parent Voice

 Salford Adult Social Care (ASC)

 Salford City Council

 Carer Social Workers

 CCG Communications & 
Engagement team

 Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust

 Clinical leads

 Primary Care

 Integrated Commissioning for 
Adults

 Children’s Commissioning 

P
age 14



Strategy Development
The strategy has been informed by a range of information about carers in Salford from the following
sources:

 Carers engagement – hearing the lived experience of carers across Salford

 Analysis of current service data on Salford Carers collected by Gaddum

 GM Carers consultation - Survey of Adult Carers in England (SACE) 2016

 Census 2011

 Reviewing and projecting 30 years of population growth and demographic change in Salford
(2007 to 2036)

 All the above has been collated into the Carers Needs Assessment report

 Salford has also fully adopted the GM Exemplar Model for Carer Support

“Without going to young carers, I wouldn’t 
have any friends” (GM Young Carers Survey)

P
age 15

http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/10a-Greater-Manchester-Support-to-Carers-Appendix-A.pdf


Our vision

1. A ‘carer friendly’ city where the diversity of our carers is recognised and
key partners from health and social care work together to ensure that a
carer’s wellbeing is maximised through appropriate and accessible
support offering the right support at the right time.

2. We want all carers in Salford to be supported and empowered to
continue on their caring journey in the way that they choose.

“I’ve just had a carer’s assessment and waiting to hear if there is any 
support available.  It did make me feel better to offload on someone” 

(YANA group)

P
age 16



Aim of Strategy

 To reflect the lived experience of 
carers across Salford. 

 To give an overview of local and 
national policy drivers to inform 
Salford priorities. 

 To evidence how our priorities in 
Salford have been created through 
reviewing current provision and 
hearing the experiences of carers in 
Salford. 

In line with the GM Carers Charter, 
Salford’s objectives are as follows:

1:  Identifying Carers

2:  Improving Health and Wellbeing  

3:  Carers as Real and Expert  Partners   

4:  Right Help at the Right Time

5:  Young Carers and Young Adult Carers

6:  Carers in / into Employment  

Objectives

P
age 17



Principles

The following principles will inform our approach to working with carers in Salford.

Carers will:
 Have choice and control about their caring role
 Be valued and respected as expert care partners 
 Be supported to have a life of their own alongside their caring role
 Be supported in a range of ways emotionally and practically 
 Be supported so that they are not forced into financial hardship by their caring 

role
 Be supported to stay mentally and physically well and will be treated with 

dignity
 Young people will be supported to undertake an agreed and appropriate caring 

role to support their need to learn, develop and thrive and to enjoy positive 
childhoods

“The support gave me 
my life back”

P
age 18



Impact of Caring
Nationally, there are an estimated 6.5 million unpaid carers, accounting for 1 
in 8 adults and estimates suggest they save the state £119 billion a year  
(Valuing Carers 2011)

Cost of caring on individual can be extremely high, impacting on:
 Emotional health and wellbeing
 Physical health
 Finances
 Isolation / Social life
 Education
 Employment

of carers were over £10,000 
worse off as a result of 
reduced earnings

of carers said their financial 
circumstances were affecting 
their health

of carers have suffered 
depression because of their 
caring role 

77% of carers felt more anxious and over ¼ of young 
carers struggle to do well in school because of caring 

P
age 19



Support for Salford Carers
Current provision:

 Carer’s assessments

 Carer’s Personal Budgets (CPBs) and Direct Payments

 Salford’s Carers Service 

 Carer Support in Secondary Care

 Support for Carers in mental health services

 Support for Carers caring for a person with dementia 

 Support for Carers provided by the Voluntary Sector

 Young Carers & Young Adult Carers 

 Carers’ Social workers in Adult Social Care

 Supporting Working Carers

We get our 
information from our 
group and the others 

in the dementia 
community 

(Dementia Champions 
Group)

P
age 20



Key areas identified

 Identification of carers: in order to reach more carers

 Carers Assessments: to increase the number of assessments and take a strength based
approach

 Carer’s Personal Budgets/Direct Payment: to increase choice and control of care service
offer

 Respite breaks: to provide a more flexible and reliable offer

 Better access to support groups: to ensure services are closer to people’s homes

 Young carers & young adult carers: including better support for them in schools and a new
standard for GPs to identify young carers.

 Professionals that are carer aware and knowledgeable of local services

 Carer’s pathway: to enable timely and appropriate access to the right professionals

 Better access to training for carers

 Communication strategy: to raise the profile of carers in Salford

P
age 21



Next Steps

 All Age Carers action plan - developed by the carers steering group
and Salford Carers

 The carer’s steering group, with representation from all key partners
will meet regularly to monitor the implementation of the action plan
and ensure that the views of carers are informing all developments.

 Governance of the carers’ strategy will be through the Adults
Commissioning Committee where six monthly updates on the
implementation of the strategy and action plan will be given.

P
age 22



Next Steps
 Co-design of an Overarching Action Plan: will be developed by the Carers Steering Group

 Taking Action : linked to the overarching action plan, Partners to develop their own action
plans on how they will work towards the vision and objectives of the strategy

 On-going Engagement with the Community: To ensure that the strategy is meaningful
and makes a difference to local people, engagement with Salford carers and key
stakeholders will continue throughout the lifetime of the strategy.

 Monitoring of the Action Plan: The Carer’s Steering Group, with representation from all
key partners will meet regularly to monitor the implementation of the overarching action
plan and ensure that the views of carers are informing all developments.

 Governance of the Strategy and Action Plan: will be through the Adults Commissioning
Committee where six monthly updates on the implementation of the strategy and action
plan will be given.

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Salford City Partnership - DRAFT

Salford All Age Carers Strategy April 2019 – 2024
An Integrated Commissioning approach: how we plan to make life better for 
carers in Salford 

Page 25



2

Contents

Acknowledgements 

Forward 

Introduction

Our vision, aim and objectives

1. Why do we need a Carers Strategy? (legislation, policy drivers)

2. What do we know about carers in Salford? 

3. Support currently available for carers in Salford

4. Improving support for carers in Salford -  Our Priorities 

5. Implementation, governance and monitoring of the Carers Strategy 

6. Appendices

Appendix 1 GM Exemplar Model Flow Chart

Page 26



3

Forward
We are pleased to present Salford’s Integrated All Age Carers Strategy which sets out our vision to 

create a ‘carer friendly’ Salford by placing carers at the centre of decisions about them. The strategy 

is a call to action to all partners to recognise the value of carers and work to ensure that all carers’s 

wellbeing is maximised. 

Carers play a vital role in our communities and caring is a fundamental part of family life.  But carers 

are too often unseen, their role comes with responsibilities and complex emotions hard to fully 

understand until we are asked to be, or become reliant on, a carer ourselves.  Yet, without the support 

of carers, our health and social care system would struggle to provide the level of care and support 

that people need to continue living in their own homes and communities.

A very real sense of satisfaction can be drawn from caring for a loved one and carers often feel a deep 

sense of pride and enjoyment from this responsibility.  However, we do recognise that caring often 

has a significant impact on the health, wellbeing and independence of carers themselves.  Too many 

carers are unaware of, or perhaps are reluctant to ask for, support.

As we deal with an ageing population and longer life expectancies, more than ever we need to support 

people to live in their own homes and communities for as long as possible and carers are a key partner 

in making this happen.  When people take on this extremely important role, we are determined to 

ensure that they receive the personalised support they need to feel fulfilled, independent and healthy.

This strategy has been produced in collaboration with carers, key partners and professionals 

supporting carers. It embraces the work that has been done across Greater Manchester developing 

the Carers Charter and the Carer Exemplar model, and builds on our previous strategies and the 

progress we have made so far in identifying and supporting carers.  

It is a key priority for Salford that carers are supported and empowered to continue on their caring 
journey in the way that they choose.  We look forward to working together to make this a reality.

Paul Dennett (City Mayor)

Tom Tasker Chair, Salford NHS CCG

Page 27



4

Acknowledgements
This strategy has been developed through a Carers Steering group with representation from a wide 
range of partners to reflect the integrated all age approach to the strategy.  The strategy has also 
been informed by the lived experience of carers in Salford through extensive engagement and 
reference to the Carers Needs Assessment.

The Carers Steering group included representation from:

 Salford CVS
 Salford Age Uk
 Healthwatch Salford
 Salford Carers Service
 Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust (GMMH)
 Salford Care Organisation
 Salford Public Health
 City West Housing Trust
 Salford Parent Voice
 Salford Adult Social Care (ASC)
 Salford City Council
 Carer Social Workers
 Clinical Commissioning Group Communications and Engagement team
 Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust
 Clinical leads
 Primary Care
 Integrated Commissioning for Adults
 Commissioning for Children

The Carers Steering group would like to thank everyone who shared their experience, knowledge 
and expertise throughout the development of this strategy. This involvement has ensured that the 
themes and priorities identified in this strategy are those of most importance to Salford carers and 
that the implementation of the action plan will have the biggest impact to support carers in their 
everyday lives. 

Partners in the Development of the Carers Strategy

Salford 
Carers 

Stragegy

Salford 
CCG

SCC

SRFT

GMMH

Salford Public 
HealthSalford Carers 

Centre

Salford CVS

City West 
Housing Trust

Salford 
Healthwatch

Carers

Page 28



5

Introduction
A carer is someone of any age who supports, unwaged, a relative, partner or friend who due to physical 
or mental illness, disability, frailty or addiction could not manage without that support.1  

Much work has been done across Greater Manchester to better understand the need of carers. The 
Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (GMHSCP) has worked closely with the 
Greater Manchester Carers Consortium to develop an integrated approach to the identification, 
assessment and meeting the needs of carers in relation to their health and wellbeing. This is outlined 
in the ‘Commitment to Carers’ 2 and the ‘Charter for Carers’3. Appendix 1 is a flow chart outlining the 
GM Exemplar model of support to carers.

Salford has fully adopted the Greater Manchester carers model and this strategy outlines how we 
are going to deliver this here in Salford.

The strategy reflects statutory duties and national policy drivers as outlined in section two.
The strategy has been informed by extensive engagement work hearing the lived experience of carers 
across Salford. The views of carers have been published in a separate document, the Carers Needs 
Assessment 4

Whilst developing this strategy we have been able to review and evaluate current work to recognise 
our achievements so far and identify areas where we need to focus going forward. 
This strategy has been developed through a steering group with broad representation of local health 
and social care providers, local voluntary sector organisations and carers.

Our vision, aim and objectives 
Vision
Our vision is a ‘carer friendly’ city where the diversity of our carers is recognised and key partners from 
health and social care work together to ensure that a carer’s wellbeing is maximised through 
appropriate and accessible support offering the right support at the right time. 
We want all carers in Salford to be supported and empowered to continue on their caring journey in 
the way that they choose. 

Aim
This strategy aims to reflect the lived experience of carers across Salford and Greater Manchester. It 
aims to recognise the needs of carers so that this can inform our work supporting carers in Salford. 
The strategy gives an overview of local and national policy drivers to inform the strategic priorities 
outlined in the plan and ensure that all partner agencies are aware of their statutory responsibilities. 
The strategy aims to evidence to carers, and all those concerned about carer issues, how our priorities 
in Salford have been created through reviewing current provision of carer services and hearing the 
experiences of carers in Salford. 

1 Greater Manchester Carers Charter http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-
FINAL.pdf (Accessed 3.08.19).
2 GM Commitment to Carers http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/GMHSCP-Carers-
Commitment-FINAL.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).
3 GM Charter for Carers: http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf 
(Accessed 25.02.2019).
4 Add reference for Needs assess when on website

Page 29

http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/GMHSCP-Carers-Commitment-FINAL.pdf
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/GMHSCP-Carers-Commitment-FINAL.pdf
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf


6

Objectives
In line with the Greater Manchester Carers Charter, Salford’s objectives are as follows:

 Objective One: Identifying Carers
 Objective Two: Improving Health and Wellbeing  
 Objective Three: Carers as Real and Expert Partners   
 Objective Four: Right Help at the Right Time
 Objective Five: Young Carers and Young Adult Carers
 Objective Six: Carers in / into Employment 

Principles
Underpinning these objectives are a number of core principles that will inform our approach to 
working with carers in Salford which include:

 Carers must have choice and control about their caring role
 Carers will be valued and respected as expert care partners 
 Carers will be supported to have a life of their own alongside their caring role
 Carers will be supported in a range of ways emotionally and practically 
 Carers will be supported so that they are not forced into financial hardship by their caring role
 Carers will be supported to stay mentally and physically well and will be treated with dignity
 Young people will be supported to undertake an agreed and appropriate caring role to support 

their need to learn, develop and thrive and to enjoy positive childhoods

Informed by the National Carers Strategy 20125 and the Greater Manchester Carers Charter6.

5 National Carers Strategy 2012: https://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/national-carers-strategy/ (Accessed 
25.02.2019).
6 Greater Manchester Carers Charter:  http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-
Charter-FINAL.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).

Page 30

https://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/national-carers-strategy/
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf


7

1. Why do we need a Carers Strategy?
This section gives an overview of legislation, national and regional policy drivers to outline the legal 
requirements and policy commitments that are in place to support carers.
 
1.1 What do we know about carers nationally?
Over the past few years the significant contribution of the carer role to health and social care services 
has been highlighted7. It is vitally important that we ensure that services for carers meet carers’ 
expectations and requirements, enabling them to continue caring for as long as they wish to do so.

Nationally, there are an estimated 6.5 million unpaid carers, accounting for 1 in 8 adults and estimates 
suggest they save the state £119 billion a year8  

Carers have fewer opportunities to do the things that other people may take for granted, such as 
access to paid employment, learning opportunities or having quality time to spend on their own, or 
with friends. 
For young carers, it can often compromise their education and social life; limiting their life chances.9 

70% of carers were over £10,000 worse off as a result of reduced earnings

45% of carers said their financial circumstances were affecting their health

54% of carers have experienced depression because of their caring role; carers also felt more anxious 
(77%) and more stressed (83%) because of their caring role10 

It has been recognised that healthcare staff are not always proactive in signposting carers to relevant 
support or information; when information is given, it comes from charities and support groups.11 

Findings from a study in 2013 highlight that 70% of carers come into contact with health professionals, 
yet only 10% of these are identified as carers. 12

It has been recognised that healthcare staff are not always proactive in signposting carers to 

7 Carers UK (2014) The State of Caring 2014: http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-
library/state-of-caring-2014 (Accessed 25.02.2019)
8 Buckner, L and Yandel, S (2011) Valuing Carers 2011, calculating the value of carers’ support. Centre for 
International Research on Care, Labour & Equalities. University of Leeds. London: Carers UK.
9 Carers UK (2014) The State of Caring 2014: http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-
library/state-of-caring-2014 (Accessed 25.02.2019).
10 Carers UK (2015) The State of Caring 2015: https://www.carersuk.org/images/Facts_about_Carers_2015.pdf 
(Last accessed 25.02.2019)

11 NHS England & NHS Improving Quality. (2014) Commitment for Carers: Report of the findings and outcomes. 
London. Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2011) Carers data Available at:

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/index.html

12 Shone guard 2013 check website with GP charter

Page 31

http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2014
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2014
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2014
http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2014
https://www.carersuk.org/images/Facts_about_Carers_2015.pdf
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/index.html


8

relevant support or information; when information is given, it comes from charities and support 
groups.13 

Findings from a study in 2013 highlight that 70% of carers come into contact 
with health professionals, yet only 10% of these are identified as carers. 14

42% of carers have missed out on financial support as a result of not getting 
the right information and advice15

1.2 Legislation  
The Care Act 2014 16

This statute replaces previous legislation regarding carers and people being cared for and outlines the 
duties of the Local Authority to:

  Carry out carers’ assessments and needs assessments, which may be combined with an 
adult’s assessment 

  Determine who is eligible for support 
  Charge for both residential care and community care 

The Care Act describes the following changes in relation to carers:
 All carers’ have the right to an assessment when they appear to have needs
 All  carers have the right to support if they meet eligibility criteria
 Local Authorities are required to provide information to Carers 
 Local Authorities may arrange for other organisations such as charities or private companies 

to carry out assessments
 Local Authorities have a duty to promote an ‘individual’s wellbeing’
 Local Authorities must support carers to achieve the outcomes they want in day-to-day life
 Local Authorities must have regard to whether the carer works or wishes to do so
 Local Authorities must have regard to carer participation in education, training and recreation

The Care Act puts carers on an equal legal footing with those they care for. For those assessed as 
having eligible needs, authorities are required to provide advocacy and personal budgets.

Young Carers
The Care Act 2014 also makes specific provision for young carers aged 16/17 in the transition from 
children’s to adult’s services.
A young carer is someone aged under 18 who helps look after a relative with a disability, illness, mental 
health condition, or drug or alcohol problem. Young adult carers are young people aged between 16 
and 25 who are caring for another child or young person, or an adult.

13 NHS England & NHS Improving Quality. (2014) Commitment for Carers: Report of the findings and outcomes. 
London. Office for National Statistics (ONS) (2011) Carers data Available at:

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/index.html  (Accessed 3.08.19).

14 Shone guard 2013 check website with GP charter

15 Carers UK (2015) The State of Caring 2015: https://www.carersuk.org/images/Facts_about_Carers_2015.pdf 
(Accessed 25.02.2019).

16 Care Act 2014 Statutory Guidance https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-
guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance (Accessed 23.05.19).

Page 32

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/index.html
https://www.carersuk.org/images/Facts_about_Carers_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


9

In relation to young carers, the Care Act requires that:
 Where it appears to a local authority that a young carer is likely to have needs for support 

after becoming 18, the authority must assess:
o Whether the young carer has needs for support and if so what those needs are 
o Whether the young carer has needs for support after becoming 18, and if so what 

those needs are likely to be 

Assessments for Young Carers
The Care Act 20142 requires local authorities to consider the needs of young carers if, during the 
assessment of an adult with care needs, or of an adult carer, it appears that a child is providing, or 
intends to provide care. In these circumstances the local authority must consider whether the care 
being provided by the child is excessive or inappropriate; and how the child’s caring responsibilities 
affects their wellbeing, education and development.

Local authorities should ensure that adults’ and children’s services work together to offer young carers 
and their families an effective service, able to respond to the needs of a young carer, the person cared 
for, and others in the family. This avoids the need for multiple assessments where children and adults 
find they are expected to give the same answers to professionals from different services, coming into 
their home at different times.

The Children and Families Act17

The Children and Families Act 2014 gives young carers the entitlement to the same help and support 
as adult carers. The legislation means that all young carers under the age of 18 are entitled to an 
assessment of their support needs. The Local Authority has to consider what services it can provide to 
meet these needs. Specific duties for Local Authorities under this legislation are:

 Taking reasonable steps to identify the extent to which there are young carers in their area 
with needs for support and, if so, what those support needs are

 Carry out an assessment for young carers upon request 

The Children Act 1989
A Local authority in England must assess whether a parent carer within their area has needs for 
support and, if so, what those needs are.  A local authority in England must take reasonable steps to 
identify the extent to which there are parent carers within their area who have needs for support.

1.3 National Policy Drivers
1.3.1 The Government’s Carers Action Plan 2018 – 2020 ‘Supporting Carers 
Today’.
This remains the current national policy for supporting carers18. The plan sets out the cross-
government programme of work to support carers until 2020. It is structured around the following 
themes:

 services and systems that work for carers

17 Children and Families Act 2014, legislation.gov.uk 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted (Accessed 20.05.2019).

18 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713781/
carers-action-plan-2018-2020.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).

Page 33

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713781/carers-action-plan-2018-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713781/carers-action-plan-2018-2020.pdf


10

 employment and financial wellbeing
 supporting young carers
 recognising and supporting carers in the wider community and society
 building research and evidence to improve outcomes for carers

The plan draws on responses to the Carer’s Strategy ‘call for evidence’ 201619.

1.3.2 The Prime Minister’s Challenge on dementia 2020 20

The Prime Minister’s challenge on dementia 2020 sets out a vision to create a society where those 
with dementia, their carers and families, receive high quality compassionate care from diagnosis  to 
end of life across all settings; at home, hospital or care home. Carers of people with dementia 
undoubtedly provide a vital role and we know that the availability of appropriate care and support 
and the quality of services has a significant bearing on whether carers feel able to take a break from 
their caring responsibilities and providing carers with better information, training and coping 
strategies, including emotional and psychological support, improves their quality of life.

1.3.3 NHS England’s Commitment to Carers 201421 
Identifies 8 priority areas for the development of increased support to Carers in Primary Care.22 
These are: 
1. Raising the profile of carers 
2. Education, training and information 
3. Service development 
4. Person-centred, well-coordinated care 
5. Primary care 
6. Commissioning support 
7. Partnership links 
8. NHS England as an employer 

1.3.4 NHS Long Term Plan (Jan 2019)23

This plan outlines a revised health model in which patients get more options, better support, and 
properly joined-up care at the right time in the optimal care setting. Supporting carers is recognised 
as an important strand to this model, and in particular the following priorities are identified:

 greater recognition and support for carers in both primary and secondary care (including the 
implementation of Quality Markers for GP practices developed by CQC) 

19 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713695/
response-to-carers-call-for-evidence.pdf (Accessed 25.02.19).

20 The Prime Minister’s Challenge on dementia 2020 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414344/
pm-dementia2020.pdf (Accessed 20.05.19).
21 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/commitment-to-carers-may14.pdf (Accessed 
25.02.2019).
22 NHS England (2014) Commitment to Carers Available at:

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/commitment-to-carers-may14.pdf (Accessed 
25.02.2019).

23 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf (Accessed 
01.04.2019).

Page 34

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713695/response-to-carers-call-for-evidence.pdf%20
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713695/response-to-carers-call-for-evidence.pdf%20
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414344/pm-dementia2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414344/pm-dementia2020.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/commitment-to-carers-may14.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/commitment-to-carers-may14.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf


11

 particular focus on supporting carers in vulnerable communities 
 a more proactive approach to identifying and supporting young carers 
 develop digitally enabled support
 include carers themselves in the development of carer services 

1.3.5 NHS Care Quality markers 2019
NHS are introducing Care Quality markers that have been created through working in partnership with 
Carers Trust, Carers UK and The Children’s Society, and have been endorsed by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC).

The markers are based on what carers have said matters most to them, and consist of six questions 
that can be used by care services to demonstrate how effective they are in recognising and supporting 
carers.

The questions have been based on what carers, and their representatives, have told us matter most 
to them, and require the care service to show how they go about supporting carers for each of the six 
themes identified. Each question is supported by a number of practical ideas that care services can 
put into place to help them develop the support they give to carers. The care service completes an 
annual declaration as evidence of how it is supporting carers and this evidence can be used for CQC 
inspections. 

1.3.6 Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) and Carers UK  
Guidance issued June 2019 on providing and commissioning carers' breaks, plus advice and 
information for carers on how to get a break24.

Research by Carers UK shows 46 per cent of unpaid carers were unable to get a break in the last five 
years, even though they wanted one.  Evidence indicates that there needs to be a wider choice of 
breaks available, and to ensure they are accessible, personalised and enjoyable for both the carer – 
and the person they care for.

1.4 Regional Policy Drivers
Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership work for Carers  
National policy documents outlining themes and priorities for carers work, as outlined above in this 
section, echo the priorities set out in the Greater Manchester Carer’s Charter.  Salford has made a 
decision to align this Carers Strategy to the Greater Manchester exemplar model in order to align our 
work here in Salford with the broader work going on in Greater Manchester, and has adopted the GM 
Carer objectives in this strategy to reflect this.  
The Carer Exemplar model identifies the key elements that should be available to carers across Greater 
Manchester wherever they live.

In line with the Greater Manchester Carers Charter, Salford’s objectives for carers are:

Objective One: Identifying Carers
Carers will be identified as early as possible to ensure that appropriate support, advice and 
information are offered. Often carers only seek or are offered support once they reach a crisis point. 
Early identification can support the carer with the tools, knowledge and confidence to enable them to 

24 Scio Guidance on Commissioning carer’s breaks and respite (2019) www.scie.org.uk/carers/breaks (Accessed 
1/07/2019).  

Page 35

http://www.scie.org.uk/carers/breaks


12

manage their caring role while still having a life of their own and maintaining their own health and 
wellbeing. We need to ensure that parent carers are identified as carers and their support needs are 
recognised and met. 

Objective Two: Improving Health and Wellbeing  
Caring can have a detrimental effect on the health and wellbeing of carers. Carers report significantly 
higher levels of poor health and levels of stress compared with non-carers. Carers often put their own 
health second to that of the person they care for. Supporting carers to maintain and improve their 
physical and mental health will benefit both carer and cared for.

Objective Three: Carers as Real and Expert Partners   
Carers will be recognised as “experts by experience” and respected as such. Carers often feel excluded 
from the planning of care for the person they support and feel that this results in stress for both the 
carer and the cared for. Carers are a valuable resource and can offer experience and knowledge to 
support co-production of service design, commissioning and quality monitoring.

Objective Four: Right Help at the Right Time
Carers identified the provision of reliable and flexible care that is available to suit them and the person 
they look after, as being essential to enable them to continue caring with confidence. 
Information, advice and support will be readily available, easily accessible and appropriate to the 
needs of carers. Having access to appropriate information can give carers the knowledge to allow 
them to take control of their caring role. Information provided by professionals will be honest and 
transparent.

Objective Five: Young Carers and Young Adult Carers
With so many adult responsibilities, young carers often miss out on opportunities that other young 
people have to play and learn. Many struggle educationally and are often bullied for being ‘different’. 
They can become isolated, with no relief from the pressures at home, and no chance to enjoy a normal 
childhood. They are often afraid to ask for help as they fear letting the family down or involving 
services that would then lead to more formal processes that they may not feel they have any control 
over. 

Objective Six: Carers in / into Employment  
It is recognised that it is hard for carers to hold down jobs and to enter into employment, as policies 
need to be flexible and tailored to individual caring roles. There is a risk of carers leaving organisations 
in their later working life when they have built up experience and skills, if organisations do not 
implement policies that are flexible to their needs. GMHSCP has worked regionally to create a best 
practice guidance for employers in supporting carers in the work place called ‘A Greater Manchester 
Working carers Toolkit’.25 

1.5 Local Policy and Key Drivers
Salford carers are a diverse group. Improving the wellbeing of carers in Salford and ensuring that all 
are offered the right support at the right time is a cross cutting priority that requires a whole system 
approach.  Below are some key local drivers that also outline on-going work to support carers.

25 ‘A Greater Manchester Working Carers Toolkit’ http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/03/10b-Greater-Manchester-Support-to-Carers-Appendix-B-Greater-Manchester-
Working-Carers-Toolkit.pdf (Accessed 23.05.19). 

Page 36



13

1.5.1 Salford Locality Plan: Start Well, Live Well, Age Well26

The Salford Locality Plan outlines how services in Salford will be developed to improve health and 
wellbeing across Salford and remove health inequalities, It explains how NHS Providers and 
Commissioners, Salford City Council and the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise sector will 
build on what is already in place so that services will be more effective, closer to people’s homes and 
be more efficient.  This is a five year plan 2017 – 2022 that will enable all Salford residents to start 
well, live well and age well. 
The Locality Plan identifies the following priorities for Carers in Salford:

 Supporting those with caring roles to identify themselves at an early stage, recognising the 
value of their contribution, and involving them in the design and planning of care packages 

 Enabling those with caring responsibilities to meet their learning and employment potential 
 Personalised support for carers and those they care for, to have a family and community life 
 Supporting carers to be mentally and physically well 
 Protecting young carers from the impact of caring

1.5.2 Local Plan for Salford City Council ‘A Fairer City’
This is due to be published September 2019 and will develop further some of the broader principles 
outlined in the Salford Locality Plan working to create a place where all Salford citizens, including 
carers can thrive.  
1.5.3 Salford’s Anti-Poverty Strategy27

The Anti-Poverty Strategy recognises that carers are a group particularly at risk of poverty and 
promotes a vision of   “a fairer and more inclusive Salford, where everyone is able to reach their full 
potential and live prosperous and fulfilling lives free from poverty and inequality.”
In order to deliver the strategy, three priority areas are referenced in the strategy, namely:

 Supporting people who are struggling in poverty now. 
 Preventing people from falling into poverty in the first place. 
 Influencing the Government and other national organisations to get a better deal for Salford 

people.

1.5.4 Salford Mental Health All Age Strategy 2019 - 2024 28

The strategy sets out our local commitment to addressing mental health and wellbeing in Salford, and 
demonstrates a joined-up approach which actively encourages engagement from all agencies across 
Salford. This strategy identifies a number of issues for carers either using mental health services 
themselves or supporting someone using mental health services and these are also priorities for this 
Carers Strategy.
They include: 

 Supporting carers with improved understanding and training around mental health awareness
 Supporting parents and families with additional needs e.g. children with disabilities, young 

carers supporting parents with mental health needs

26 http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan (Accessed 01.04.2019).
27 No one left behind: Tackling poverty in Salford, Salford City Partnership (Accessed 01.04.2019) 
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/assets/11-Adult-Social-Care-Transformation-Programme-FINAL-v2-1.pdf 
[Accessed 9/11/2017).

28https://extranet.salfordccg.nhs.uk/application/files/2615/5412/4803/Salford_Mental_health_All_Age_Integr
ated_Commissioning_Strategy.pdf (Accessed 3.08.19).

Page 37

http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/assets/11-Adult-Social-Care-Transformation-Programme-FINAL-v2-1.pdf
https://extranet.salfordccg.nhs.uk/application/files/2615/5412/4803/Salford_Mental_health_All_Age_Integrated_Commissioning_Strategy.pdf
https://extranet.salfordccg.nhs.uk/application/files/2615/5412/4803/Salford_Mental_health_All_Age_Integrated_Commissioning_Strategy.pdf


14

 Improving the advice and information provided to people with mental health conditions, their 
families and carers at the point of diagnosis

 Navigation of care and support for people in the community who are diagnosed with dementia 
and their carers

 Mental Health Care Pathway Redesign: review the impact of the Carers Support 
Transformation Project, with a view to revising the carers support offer for carers of people 
under the Early Intervention Service, Home Treatment Teams and Inpatient Units.

1.5.5 Salford Care Organisation Dementia Strategy29

This strategy embraces the Prime Minister’s Challenge on Dementia 2020 outlining a vision to create 
a society where those with dementia, their carers and families, receive high quality compassionate 
care from diagnosis  to end of life across all settings; at home, hospital or care home.
This strategy involved significant consultation with people with dementia and their carers to ensure 
that their priorities are recognised.

1.5.6 Salford Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 2018 
- 202130

The idea of early help can be simply stated as working together with children, young people and 
families to prevent problems occurring, or provide better support when they do. It’s about identifying 
needs within families early, and providing preventative support and intervention before problems 
become complex and entrenched.
The strategy recognises the significant role that young carers play and the need to support young 
carers as part of an all family approach. 

1.5.7 Shaping Our City 0-25 Transformation Projects31

Shaping Our City projects create closer working between Salford City Council and partners to support 
children, young people and families. The aim is to ensure that children and young people achieve their 
potential. The Transformation projects which are likely to have the greatest impact on young carers 
are: 

 The Bridge – A single front door for all concerns and information requests about families in 
Salford, including information and referrals for young carer and parent carer assessments

 Early Help – Four locality teams made up of staff from different organisations to work together 
to provide early help to families, ensuring that young carers and their families receive the 
advice, help and services they need, on the basis of an assessment 

 Integrated Working Test Cases - Closer working between the City Council and NHS Salford 
Clinical Commissioning Group, in three specific areas working together to develop and deliver 
more streamlined services in a more cost effective way. Test cases will focus on: emotional 
health and wellbeing; children with disabilities and children with speech, language and 
communication needs 

29 
http://www.srft.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=110165&type=full&servicetype=Inline&filena
me=/Dementia_Strategy.pdf (Accessed 01.04.2019).

30 https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/1252/early-help-strategy-for-children-young-people-and-families-
2018-21.pdf 
31 https://www.partnersinsalford.org/shapingourcity025 (Accessed 01.04.2019).

Page 38

http://www.srft.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=110165&type=full&servicetype=Inline&filename=/Dementia_Strategy.pdf
http://www.srft.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=110165&type=full&servicetype=Inline&filename=/Dementia_Strategy.pdf
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/1252/early-help-strategy-for-children-young-people-and-families-2018-21.pdf
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/1252/early-help-strategy-for-children-young-people-and-families-2018-21.pdf
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/shapingourcity025


15

1.5.8 The Salford Standard
The Salford Standard describes the level of care that can be expected when visiting a GP practice in 
Salford.  Launched in April 2016, the aim is to make it easier to see a GP and for everyone in Salford 
to get the same level of service and care whichever GP practice they go to.  The Salford Standard 
consists of 10 domains with Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) in each.  Carers are classed as a 
vulnerable group and three performance indicators are included:

 Carers aged 18 and over, registered within the practice
 Carers aged 17 and under, registered within the practice
 Carers offered a health check

 ‘GP’s surgeries should give out more information and signpost.  Some are very good but others not so 
good” (Time out for Carers Group)

The legislation outlined in this section will inform this strategy to ensure that Salford is delivering 
on its statutory responsibilities to carers. The GM six priorities for carers that this strategy has 
adopted clearly align to the national legislation and regional policy drivers summarised in this 
section. Below, the strategy summarises the issues and priorities that carers in Salford have told us 
about. This strategy will consider national and regional policy drivers in light of the experience of 
Salford carers. 

2. What do we know about carers in Salford? What have carers told us? 
This section gives an overview of what we currently know about carers in Salford from the following 
sources:

 Survey of Adult Carers in England (SACE 2016)
 Census 2011 data
 Reviewing and projecting 30 years of population growth and demographic change in 

Salford (2007 to 2036)
 Local Engagement and surveys conducted with Salford carers
 The current provision of support in Salford for carers 

All the above has been collated into the Carers Needs Assessment report32 

What the data tells us
Data from the Survey of Adult Carers in England (SACE) 2016 and the Census 2011 gives us a wealth 
of data and a broad picture of the range of Carers in Salford and key issues for carers. Key aspects are 
highlighted below:

2.1 Numbers of carers in Salford
The census 2011 found that 12.2% of the Salford adult population (aged over 16 years) are carers, in 
line with 12% in England in 201133.  Salford’s population in 2018 was 254,408 which indicates there 
were 24,755 adult carers, aged over 16 years, in Salford. 

32 Ask Gordon for link of Needs Assess when on line
33 Table KS301EW Provision of Unpaid Care in 2011 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=75&subgrp=Key+Statist
ics (Accessed 25.02.2019). 

Page 39

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=75&subgrp=Key+Statistics
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/select/getdatasetbytheme.asp?theme=75&subgrp=Key+Statistics


16

Carers known to services and being supporting in Salford
Statutory and voluntary services in Salford support a good number of carers, however it is difficult to 
accurately determine how many of the 24,755 carers were supported in 2018.  This is due to possible 
duplication of carers on different records and information going out of date as the role of the carer is 
very fluid and changes.  
The number of carer’s assessments completed in the last year is one indicator that can be measured 
and we would be looking for this number to increase year on year.  In 2018, 3449 carer’s assessments 
were completed. 

2.2 Future Trends and Projections
It is projected that there will be a 252% increase in people aged over 65 with one or more conditions 
by 205034. Figure 1 shows the proportion of the population in each five year age band, split by gender, 
in 2005, 2015 and projected figures to 2035.  It indicates that Salford’s older population is likely to 
grow substantially - the over 50s’ population in Salford could increase from 75,600 in 2014 to 97,100 
in 2035.  Approximately 21% of the Salford population currently have a limiting long-term illness 
(LLTI)i.  If this proportion stays the same, the numbers of people with a LLTI will increase due to 
population growth alone.
In 2034 Salford’s population is projected to be 284,000 which suggests there will be 35,000 adult 
carers, aged over 16 in Salford, an increase in more than 10,000 from 2011.

8627

7493

6319

6938

9455

10608

10168

7792

7548

7954

7669

6493

5326

5638

4412

3686

2745

3071

8903

8152

6464

7069

9848

11293

10778

8621

7705

8144

8091

6766

5623

5611

3939

3144

1919

1602

5 4 3 2 1 0 1 2 3 4 5

0 - 4

5 - 9

10 - 14

15 - 19

20 - 24

25 - 29

30 - 34

35 - 39

40 - 44

45 - 49

50 - 54

55 - 59

60 - 64

65 - 69

70 - 74

75 - 79

80 - 84

85+

Proportion of total population in each age band

Ag
e b

an
d

Population Trends - Salford 
Males 2015 Males 2005 Females 2015 Females 2005 Males 2035 Females 2035

Source:  Mid-year estimates 2005, 2015 and population projections (2014), Office for National 
statistics35

34 Millions of patients set to benefit from a modern NHS, Department of Health  
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/MediaCentre/Pressreleases/DH_1
25042 (Accessed 25.02.2019).
35 Mid year population estimates and population projections, Office for National Statistics 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationesti
mates (Accessed 25.02.2019).

Page 40

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/MediaCentre/Pressreleases/DH_125042
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/MediaCentre/Pressreleases/DH_125042
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates


17

2.3 Health Outcomes – Survey of Adult Carers in England (SACE) 2016
This survey of Salford carers found that providing care and support can have a detrimental impact on 
the health of the carer themselves 36.

Over 1/3 of carers in the survey said their health had been affected by their caring role

Over 50% of Salford carers reported a general feeling of stress 

The pattern and order of reported health is the same as England although the proportions affected 
are slightly lower.  

Over 40 % of Salford carers felt that they were neglecting themselves

One Salford carer said………
‘Explore other ways of reaching out to carers who are too “bogged down” with stress and often 
exhausted to look out for themselves

2.4 Carers and Employment - Survey of Adult Carers in England (SACE) 2016
Less than a quarter (23.4 per cent) of carers responding to the SACE in Salford are in paid employment 
(either part-time, full-time or self-employed).  Of these carers, less than half are employed on a full-
time basis.  A quarter of carers feel unable to work because of their carer responsibilities.
Just over half of the respondents to the SACE survey were retired, this correlates with the age group 
of respondents the majority (45%) of whom are aged over 65 years.
The majority of carers are typically aged between 50 and 64 years therefore may be at the peak of 
their careers in terms of skills and experience.  The numbers in this group will rise in the next 50 years 
as the dependency ratio falls from 4:1 to 2:137.

There are significant costs to individuals and families, businesses and the wider economy when carers 
feel that they have no option other than to give up work, reduce their hours or take lower paid or 
part-time jobs. Carers UK (2013)38  identified that approximately 2.3 million adults gave up work to 
care for an elderly parent or disabled/seriously ill loved one. 

‘I can feel shame about being a carer and needy or not dependable because I need to take time off or 
make personal calls. Managers have the privilege of listening to what is the most difficult part of your 
caring role and the complexities and emotions that are involved when you disclose and sharing that 
information can leave people feeling vulnerable’ (working carer in Salford)

‘I told my manager early on in my employment that I have caring responsibilities so they understood 
that I would need to take time off work, and they have been supportive. It helps that I can tell my 
colleagues, but sometimes I don’t want to talk about it at work’ (working carer Salford)

 

36 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-collections-and-data-sets/data-collections/social-care-
user-surveys/guidance/survey-of-adult-carers-in-england-2016-17-guidance-for-local-authorities (Accessed 
3.08.19).
37  Supporting working carers, ADASS, 2017 
https://www.adass.org.uk/media/5922/workingcarersreport-final.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).
38 The state of Caring 2013, CarersUK https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-
library/the-state-of-caring-2013 (Accessed 25.02.2019).

Page 41

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-collections-and-data-sets/data-collections/social-care-user-surveys/guidance/survey-of-adult-carers-in-england-2016-17-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-collections-and-data-sets/data-collections/social-care-user-surveys/guidance/survey-of-adult-carers-in-england-2016-17-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.adass.org.uk/media/5922/workingcarersreport-final.pdf
https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/the-state-of-caring-2013
https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/the-state-of-caring-2013


18

‘One key area is more staff awareness and a bit more understanding on the role of a carer - my 
experience has been devastating,  watching the gradual deterioration of someone you love’ (working 
carer Salford) 

2.5 Social Contact and Isolation - Survey of Adult Carers in England (SACE) 2016
The SACE (2016) results for Salford recorded that overall 37.4 % of carers reported they have as much 
social contact as they want with people they like, 48% have some social contact but not enough and 
14.6 % reported they have little social contact and feel socially isolated.  
Analysis of the survey findings suggests that there is a link between carers feeling lack of control in 
their lives and feeling isolated. When adding the amount of control respondents have into the feelings 
of social isolation, 88.1% of respondents who feel they have no control over their lives also feel that 
they have little or no social contact with other people.   

Unsurprisingly, respondents to the SACE 2016 survey reported having less social contact with people 
when the amount of hours spent caring increased. Just over two thirds (67.5%) of those caring for 100 
hours or more reported having limited or no social contact.  This is in contrast to those who care for 
less than 10 hours per week, the majority of whom (85.3%) felt they had enough positive social 
contact.  

Salford Carers view…….
 ‘We need a central point of contact to either ask for help, raise questions or sign posting to the right 
service’ (survey)
What carers said about training for front line staff to recognise, identify and signpost carers 
for support

‘I have always been a carer and it has not been easy to find information ‘(survey)

‘ I feel there is a lack of staff training, and I’m just directed from department to department’ (survey)

What Salford carers said about developing better access to information through the carers 
centre………

‘I would like to know what more is available from the carers centre’ (Waterside carers group)

‘We need a central point of contact to either ask for help, raise questions or sign posting to the right 
service’ (survey)

2.6 Financial Outcomes - Survey of Adult Carers in England (SACE) 2016
The SACE 2016 survey found that in Salford, almost 42% of carers had suffered financial difficulties to 
some extent in the previous 12 months.  Further to this, research carried out by Carers UK in 2016 
provided a snapshot of caring.39  In terms of finances the survey found that:

 44% are struggling to make ends meet, rising to nearly half (48%) of those caring for 35 hours 
or more per week 

 A quarter of carers (26%) report that they have been, or are currently, in debt as a result of 
their caring role

Three quarters (73%) of carers who are struggling to make ends meet, say worrying about their 
finances is affecting their health

39 CarersUk State of Caring survey 2016 https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-
library/state-of-caring-2016 (Accessed 3.08.19).

Page 42

https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016
https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2016


19

There is a link between income and health and wellbeing, with low income being a risk factor to poorer 
health.  If caring reduces a carer’s ability to work full-time or to work at all, this may cause financial 
difficulties and have a negative impact on the health and wellbeing of the carer, including mental 
health as a result of stress related to finances.

2.7 GM Young carers survey
As part of the GM Support for Carers Programme an online survey was designed and developed by 
the GM Young Carers Survey steering group, comprising of 18 young carers and young adult carers 
from the across the conurbation. 

The survey had 245 responses, of which 23% were from Salford young carers and young adult carers. 
These responses combined with a review of commissioned services have supported the development 
of the GM Young Carers Minimum Standards which have been adopted by Salford and will be the 
drivers in the action plan.

1. Young Carers Service: available to all young carers requiring support up to the age of 25 with 
a single point of contact and a clear pathway from children’s to adults services.

2. Young Carers Assessments: all identified young carers to receive an assessment that takes a 
whole family approach, is carried out collaboratively with joint responsibility for identification 
of Young Carers across children’s and adults services, including health and education.

3. Young Carers Support: Local Authorities to develop a clear and transparent offer of support 
to young carers and their families which is published and readily available for Young Carers 
and their family.

4. Participation: young carers to be supported to participate in regional events and activities and 
to contribute to a GM young carers Board where they wish to.

5. Young Carers Strategy: multiagency strategy is developed with young carers themselves and 
an action plan is regularly monitored by a strategic group including membership from Health, 
Education and Social Care with clear engagement from young carers.  

6. Leadership: Local Authority and CCG to ensure young carers have access to senior leaders and 
are regularly consulted on their needs and requirements, this may be through a young carers 
Board or other medium.

7. Schools: supported to identify young carers, and encouraged to participate in the young carers 
in Schools programme and adoption of the carers passport.

8. Young Carers Champion: every school and college to identify a young carer’s champion who 
actively supports young carers in education.

9. Engagement: plan for engagement with businesses, employers, Further Education and Higher 
Education establishments to raise awareness of young adult carers’ issues.

10. Strategic Support: young carers identified as a vulnerable group in all key mental health and 
raising participation strategies, policies and partnerships.

Salford Young Carers said……..

‘Some teachers don't know about me being a young carer and don't really understand why sometimes 
I can’t get as much work done’

‘Simply to have someone, who understands young carers, come in and can talk to us about how we’re 
managing in school, as well as if there’s anything the school can do to help would be great’ 

Page 43



20

‘In my school we’re not allowed phones, which worries me a little bit as I can’t check on my mum 
throughout the day.’

Young carers said they wanted to be given the skills to care……..

‘Young carers should be made aware of the help available already, like bursaries and nurses and 
social workers available to help when they can't.’

‘More help caring for the person they care for so they don’t need to stress and worry.’

3. Support for carers in Salford
This section aims to give an overview of how we are currently working to support carers in Salford.  
Salford has a diverse range of communities with carers from all walks of life and differing support 
needs.  Some carers are elderly themselves and care for a partner, others are still in paid employment 
and juggling the demands of the two roles. Salford also has many young carers aged 3 – 25 years, who 
have very specific challenges in being a carer at such a young age. Salford services aim to reflect this 
diversity in our carers and their support needs.
3.1 Carer’s assessments
A carer's assessment is an opportunity to discuss with the Local Authority what support or services 
are needed by the carer.  The assessment will look at how caring affects the life of the carer, including 
for example, physical, mental and emotional needs, and whether they are able or willing to carry on 
caring.  

Any carer who appears to have a need for support is entitled to an assessment regardless of the 
amount or type of care provided, their financial means or the level of need for support.  The carer 
does not necessarily have to live with the person they are caring for or be caring full-time to have an 
assessment.  

As outlined in section 1.2 of this strategy, the Local Authority has a duty under the Care Act 2014 to 
make provision for carers assessments, however, not all carers may wish to have an assessment. 

Current assessment model
Currently most assessments are conducted by social workers or other practitioners and some 
assessments are done by the Carers Service as part of the Enhanced Carers pilot based at Salford Royal 
Foundation Hospital.  These assessments are recorded on the ASC recording system to ensure that 
information is shared appropriately and that carers do not need to duplicate information. The model 
is not as flexible as it could be to addressing carer’s needs at the time of the assessment and provision 
of assessments is not consistent.  There is a need to have a system that recognises carers may need 
different conversations and responses depending on their situation at the time of the assessment. 
Consideration should be given to developing a more strength based and person centred model of 
assessment for carers moving forward.  In children’s services, assessments of parent carers are 
conducted by Carers Assessment Workers. 

Feed- back from carers and services suggest that currently in Salford some carers are not clear how to 
access an assessment or the purpose or benefit of an assessment. A carer’s assessment is not 
perceived by carers to be a tool for gaining additional support where needed, with some carers 
believing that it is assessing their ability to care. Some carers have said they have been waiting a long 
time to access the service for an assessment.

Page 44



21

 “I’ve just had a carer’s assessment and waiting to hear if there is any support available.  It did 
make me feel better to offload on someone”. (YANA group)

 “I have been offered a carers assessment at GP’s”. (Irlam & Cadishead Group)
  “We need more information about what we do in crisis, do we turn to social services or carers 

centre?”. (Dementia Carers Group)
  “What benefit is a carers assessment, how do people find out about these?”. (Hug in a Mug group)

Salford will explore aligning the assessment model to a strength based approach that focusses on 
the immediate need of the carer and allows for a person centred and proportionate assessment to 
the circumstances at that time.  Consideration will be given to an assessment model where a simple 
pre- assessment conversation identifies those eligable for a carers assessment. This would reduce the 
wating time and enable a broader set of people to have the initial conversation, resulting in 
appropriate referals then being made for full carers assessments. 

Sharing of information on carers between agencies
It is recognised that information sharing systems in partner agencies currently do not facilitate good 
sharing of information in relation to identified carers and their support needs. There are plans for 
digital transformation in Salford and Greater Manchester that will enable digital records to be shared 
more easily across agencies in compliance with data protection as outlined in the Local Health and 
Care Record exemplar (LHCR). This will enable the identification of carers to be conveyed between 
agencies and systems.

Young carer’s assessments
Assessments of young carers and the people they care for are intrinsically linked. This is why the 
legislation allows local authorities to combine assessments. This may mean that children’s needs are 
assessed by professionals who will not have the same familiarity with children’s needs as social 
workers employed by children’s services.40

As part of the Greater Manchester Adult Social Care Transformation Programme providers and 
commissioners have been working in partnership to review, design and implement innovative 
solutions to improve outcomes for people across GM. A key area of the work programme was support 
for young carers resulting in the development of the GM Young Carers minimum standards.

Young carers assessments in Salford
Salford has not had a clear pathway for assessment of young carers and this is an area of priority that 
has been identified. The implementation of the ‘Early Help Integrated Model’ across Salford has 
provided an opportunity to review the current process of undertaking young carers assessments and 
to develop a clear pathway ensuring that young carers have access to the Early Help Family 
Assessment that takes into account the needs of the whole family.

The new pathway is still under development, however once fully embedded young carers and their 
families in Salford will be offered an assessment and supported regardless of which service is 
contacted in the first place. 

40 Young Carers Needs Assessment Supporting Guidance 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Young%20Carers%20needs%20assessment.pdf 
(Accessed 20.05.19)

Page 45

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Young%20Carers%20needs%20assessment.pdf


22

All requests for young carers assessments will be made via the Bridge, an online multi-agency hub that 
screens all contacts, which will be key in monitoring the impact of the pathway as it is implemented.

“I think that workers and services can talk to us more to support my family and me”. (GM Young Carers 
Consultation)

“Communicate more between the services as information is vital in supporting families”. (GM Young 
Carers Consultation)

3.2 Carer’s Personal Budgets (CPBs) and Direct Payments
In Salford, Carer’s Personal Budgets and Direct Payments are available to support carers: 

A CPB can be applied for if:
 the carer’s assessment shows that they have needs that cannot be met another way
 the person applying is an unpaid carer (carers allowance is not classed as payment) and the 

person they care for lives in Salford 
As an outcome of an assessment of need, and depending on the level of other support available and 
the ability to continue with their caring role, a carer could receive a CPB at the Low, Middle or High 
rate. There is a maximum amount that can be paid for each level.

All carers are given a CPB in the form of a Direct Payment – this is Salford specific and not necessarily 
the case in all local authorities across England. The CPB can only be used to fund one item or service 
at each application and can only be received once per year. 

Carers have fed back in our engagement that they find the current system of applying for a Carer’s 
Personal Budget or Direct Payment difficult. It is recognised that the systems in Salford for Carers 
Personal Budgets and Direct payments need revising so that they offer truly personalised solutions 
that work for people. These systems are being revised as this strategy is written in the summer of 
2019. 

More provision and support with planned respite is needed, especially for holidays (Time out for 
carers)’

‘I needed additional support in finding the right care home when my husband was at home, but none 
was available”. (Dementia Carers Group)

One carers experience of a direct payment:
 I became an employer of carers for my Mum which just added to my stress and I feel that there was 
very little support in helping me with this.  The big question that was not answered how I could stop 
being the employer on her behalf and go back to normal payments.(Time out for Carers group)

3.3 Carers Breaks
Breaks are essential – they make a real difference enabling carers to continue caring and to maintain 
their own health and wellbeing. They support positive relationships.  Good breaks, as part of a range 
of support, help prevent ill-health, stress, isolation, crisis and breakdown.

Breaks can be many different things – from short breaks in residential care, sitting services, through 
to family holidays, shared activities or time out to relax. Good breaks are personalised, planned, offer 

Page 46



23

flexibility, a positive experience and are enjoyable. Carers Personal Budgets can enable carers to tailor 
breaks that work for them and their situation.

3.4 Advocacy for Carers
An advocate is a statutory role to support a carer to voice their wishes and views and those of the person 
they care for. An advocate can also ensure that the support needs of the carers are understood and 
recognised and that the carers has access to all the inforamtion they need in order to support them to 
make decisions and choices. 

In Salford, advocacy for carers is provided by the Carers Service and MIND have a contract to offer advocacy 
to meet all other statutory requirements. This arrangement with two advocacy providers will be reviewed 
when the contracts are renewed.

3.5 Salford Carer’s Service 
The commissioned Salford Carers Service offers an all age support service for carers across the city.  
The service is based at Langworthy Cornerstones but works remotely across Salford. The service offers 
a range of information and support services including;

 1-to-1 information, advice and emotional support
 Events and activities for all carers
 Sign-posting to other services
 Support to access a carers assessment.
 Outreach services in the localities 
 Support to carers to set up and run peer support groups
 Delivery of carer focus courses 
 Carers awareness training to partner organisations and health professionals 
 Carers outreach support within  Salford Royal and GMMH Mental Health wards 
 A young carers and young adult carers service which works closely with  educational providers
 Volunteer recruitment and befriending. 

Salford carers do not always find current services easy to navigate or access. There was a general view 
that the single point of access to carers services in Salford needed strengthening and that 
professionals need to be more knowledgeable on where to refer carers for support.  

‘I’d like to know where to turn when difficulties arise’ (survey)

“You seem to get passed from service to service”.  Endless phone calls with very little outcome (survey)

3.6 Carer Support in Secondary Care
National and regional research shows that carers need more support around secondary care. When 
either the carer or the patient is being admitted to hospital, there is often an urgent need to review 
and support a in a number of ways.  It is also a key point to identify carers who may be stepping into 
a caring role for the first time. This strategy will reflect and address the recognised needs of carers in 
relation to secondary care.
 
3.7 Support for Carers at Salford Royal Hospital

Page 47



24

Salford Royal inpatients and Northern Care Alliance are committed to improving the service offer 
available to carers and we are in the process of co-producing a new Carers Charter to help close 
current gaps for carers and improve their overall experience.

A local task & finish group has formed with local service providers to co-design the Charter based on 
feedback and input from all relevant stakeholders.  This will also align to national and local guidance 
around carers. The group is already observing benefits from linking together with key partners, in 
understanding what each organisation offers in order to maximise support for carers.  Additionally, 
there have been positive discussions around aspirations such as the development of a carer 
information and support hub.

3.8 Enhanced Carer Support Project
In April 2017 transformation funding was approved to deliver a project to test a new model of intense 
support targeted at carers at the point of hospital admission of the person they care for. It was 
recognised that carers are often in need of support at this critical time, and that it would be good to 
pilot a model where there was intense targeted support at this key crisis point. 

Project evaluation demonstrated that the type of support offered through this service tended to be 
related to areas related to the person being in hospital such as supporting carers to be an advocate, 
particularly in relation to hospital discharge and supporting carers to ensure that they receive all the 
correct benefits and that hospital discharges are well planned. 

Comments from carers
“Excellent - if my carer support worker wasn’t there my head would have fallen in. Brilliant. Excellent. 
Really thankful for what they’ve done”  

“The support gave me my life back. I realised it wasn’t all about caring for my partner. I applied for a 
Carer’s Personal Budget and I bought a tablet with it. I went on a computer course that the support 
service got me on.” 

Comments from professionals – 
 “We have found the support that this service offers to carers and families is invaluable and it enables 
them to fulfil their carer role confidently as they have support as and when they need it. An invaluable 
service.” Charge Nurse

3.9 Support for Carers in mental health services
Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust provide mental health services across 
Salford.  This includes The Meadowbrook Unit, Woodlands Hospital, Home Based Treatment/Early 
Intervention services and a number of community mental health teams across the Borough.

Each ward/team has at least one staff member allocated to the role of ‘Carer Champion’.  The Carer 
Champion receives additional training and resources to ensure the whole team is more ‘carer aware’ 
and working to identify, support and involve carers. 

The commissioned Salford carers Service has carers workers attached to Meadowbrook Unit and the 
Home Based Treatment Team , whilst the Carers Centre does currently support carers for people with 
mental health needs, they do not complete carers assessments as routine and there may be some 

Page 48



25

occasions where support to carers is best embedded within the mental health service.  Greater 
Manchester Mental Health (GMMH) have recently appointed one carer support worker within the 
EIP/EDIT service to support the identification assessment and support of carers using the mental 
health services. 

The community teams have also commenced carer clinics to support the care co-ordinators with giving 
better access to carers assessments for those service-users with severe and enduring mental health 
needs.

It is recognised that many more carers are being identified within the mental health services in Salford 
than are having assessments and that there is a need for increased access to assessments and closer 
working relations with carer support networks in the voluntary sector. Further work will be required 
to explore the requirements of provision for carers of people with mental health needs. 

3.10 Support for Carers caring for a person with dementia 
There are a variety of services and support groups available in Salford for people caring for a person 
with dementia. The services and support groups are provided by Greater Manchester Mental Health 
NHS FT’s Memory Assessment Team, Age UK Salford and other community/voluntary groups. There is 
a commitment to on-going engagement to understand the needs of people caring for a person with 
dementia and co-producing dementia services.

Salford Care Organisation has committed to a number of pledges outlined in the Salford Care 
Organisation Dementia Strategy to meet the needs of carers of people with dementia:

 We will identify carers across all services 
 We will signpost and where appropriate provide carers assessments and on-going review of 

holistic needs for all carers of people with dementia
 We will work with carers to promote good health and wellbeing
 Access to appropriate support for carers to continue to do the things that are important to 

them
 Support for carers to enable the best care for people with dementia
 Opportunity for involvement of carers in on-going care of people with dementia

3.11 Bereavement support for carers
Appropriate bereavement support and a bereavement assessment will be available to carers
Strategies and supporting policies have been put in place to ensure carers and people living with 
dementia are supported in the workplace. 

3.12 Support for Carers provided by the voluntary sector. 
There are a range of services and support groups available to carers through the voluntary sector.  
These range from larger voluntary organisations offering specific services through to smaller carers 
groups organised in a specific locality due to local need. Groups and services change regularly, one of 
the findings from the engagement is that there is a need for an up to date overview of carers services 
available that is readily available to carers. This will be built into the strategy and will be taken on as a 
function of the steering group. Current support groups for carers can be found on the Salford CVS 
website: https://www.salfordcvs.co.uk/support-carers-vcse-sector

Page 49

https://www.salfordcvs.co.uk/support-carers-vcse-sector


26

3.13 Young carers & young adult carers in Salford
Current support for Young Carers in Salford
The Salford Carers Service provide a range of support to young carers, including:

 Information and advice to young carers
 Awareness raising through a range of events and activities such as ‘Salford Young Carers Day’ 

and ‘Carers Rights Day’
 Providing one to one support
 Advocacy
 Delivering group based sessions and activities:
 Promoting young carer awareness and services in schools and colleges
 Supporting schools to implement young carers groups
 Supporting schools with the identification of young carers
 Engaging young carers in the development of campaigns, awareness raising and activities 
 Supporting young carers transition into high school:
 Providing residential trips:
 Supporting young carers and young adult carers with accessing specialist services / advice
 Supporting young carers to participate in meetings and events such as GM Young Carers Board

Delivering training sessions for professionals to increase awareness and understanding of the needs 
of young carers, including GP training and local housing providers

“Without going to Young Carers services I wouldn’t have any friends” (GM Young Carers Survey)

3.14 Carers’ Social workers in Adult Social Care (ASC)
Salford has five dedicated Carers Social Workers who are based in localities and work across the city 
with partners to raise the profile of carers and to work with more complex cases.  Having a separate 
social worker for the carer can be particularly important in cases such as safeguarding cases or other 
cases where there could potentially be a conflict of interest between the cared for person and their 
carer. This model ensures that the carer receives appropriate support for them in their caring role. 

Carers Social Workers are currently based in the localities of: Swinton, Walkden, Irlam, Cadishead and 
Eccles, Broughton, Ordsall and Claremont.  The fifth Carer Social Worker is based in the Learning 
Disabilities team.  Being based in the localities enables the Carers Social Workers to hold knowledge 
on local services for carers and support the development of these. This fits with the locality model 
outlined in the Salford Locality Plan: Start Well, Live Well, Age Well (see 1.5.1). There is also a part 
time Carers Assessment Officer in Children’s services who works closely with the adults’ Carers Social 
Workers and supports young carers and parent carers in a similar way. 

The Carer Social Workers have a clear development role and support events to raise awareness of 
carer’s issues such as Carer’s Week and Carer’s Rights Days.  The specialist Carer Social workers enable 
ASC to contribute to the development of carers support in Salford and work with more complex issues 
or where there are conflicts of interest between the carer and the cared for and two workers are 
required. It should be noted that all ASC social workers do work to support a carer’s wellbeing as part 
of their on-going work with adults in need of care or support. 

3.15 Supporting Working Carers 
In Salford this is a relatively recent area of work, a number of our key partners have already adopted 
the tool kit and are working with the carers they employ to better understand how to support them 

Page 50



27

in the workplace through more flexible arrangements, for example Salford City Council and Greater 
Manchester Mental Health. 

In response to the Working Carers toolkit, Salford City Council have worked with their carers to 
develop an action plan to address the needs of carers.  They are also going to have a page on the GM 
Employers for carers website. 

Page 51



28

4. Improving support for carers in Salford – Our Priorities 
This section draws on a range of information from partners and what carers have told us to outline 
priority areas of work, gaps in current provision and recommendations to improve support for carers 
in Salford.  These Salford priorities align to the Greater Manchester six objectives that frame this 
strategy, but give the detail of what we have identified as important here in Salford.  

The key areas of work identified below will inform the action plan of this strategy. Some of these 
priority areas will require services to be re-shaped within existing commissioner investment.  Other 
priority areas are new or require development that is likely to require additional investment. 

4.1Priority areas of work that require re-shaping of existing services:

4.1.1 Identification of carers 
Given the estimated number of carers in Salford and current annual number of carers assessments it 
is evident that there are a significant number of carers in Salford who we are not managing to reach 
(see section 2.1). There is a clear priority from both national and local evidence that Salford needs to 
work hard to improve mechanisms for identifying carers as they pass through a range of services 
(particularly primary care services). This links very much to raising awareness amongst professionals 
of carer issues. This is a priority in Greater Manchester as well as in Salford. Our Enhanced Carers pilot 
providing support at point of hospital entry has demonstrated that this is an important way to identify 
and support carers not known to us.  The work implementing the Carer Strategy will monitor numbers 
of carers year on year and work to increase the number of carers who are known to services and 
offered appropriate support. 

4.1.2 Carers Assessments 
It is recognised that Salford needs to raise awareness across agencies and carers themselves about 
the purpose of an assessment and the benefits. Salford needs to increase the number of carer’s 
assessments that are completed, as the current number is low compared to the number of carers who 
are being supported across Salford  and the numbers of ‘hidden carers’ that will be identified  by 
improved identification particularly in GP practices, secondary health care settings and schools.  
Actions identified to improve carers assessments in Salford include: 

 Implement Strength Based Approach (SBA) assessment model 
 Review assessment model of pilot where the Carers Service provide assessments
 Develop the pathway training / document
 Review of the service to ensure enough finance and staffing in place
 Relevant staff training
 Raising awareness campaign around assessments
 Provide some milestones and timescales. 

Local feedback from carers suggests that some carers may be anxious of an assessment believing that 
it is an assessment of their ability to care rather than an assessment of their support needs. Therefore 
work needs to be done across Salford to review the language we use in relation to assessments to 
ensure that the carer’s assessment and the benefits of the assessment are fully understood by all 
agencies and carers themselves. 

Page 52



29

4.1.3 Carer’s Personal Budgets and Direct Payments 
There is a need to review how CPB’s are allocated and assessed as out engagement suggested that 
carers are often struggling with the process of application and that allocation is not always fair or 
consistent. As outlined previously in this strategy Carer’s Personal Budgets and Direct Payments offer 
carers flexibility in how they receive support. 

Currently the take up of Direct Payments in Salford is low and this needs to be monitored to ensure 
that this flexible support offer is maximised to give flexibility to cares in support arrangements. It is 
essential that all carers taking up Direct Payments are given the information, advice and support they 
need to ensure that Direct Payments is a positive experience for them.

As outlined earlier in this strategy work has already started to revise the system of Direct Payments in 
Salford (see section 3.2) and the revised systems will be reviewed through the Carers Strategy to 
ensure that they are better able to meet the flexible needs of carers. 

4.1.4 Respite and Breaks 
Findings from the engagement with both carers and practitioners in Salford suggest that current 
provision is not adequate and does not offer the ability to forward plan or the flexibility that carers 
require from respite.

Direct Payments is most likely to offer this more flexible support offer and there is currently work 
being led by Salford Care Organisation to improve provision of DP’s in Salford.  Consideration will  need 
to be given as to whether there are potential cost implications in developing this model further. 
 Consideration will also need to be given to how DP’s and Carers Personal Budgets would work 
alongside each other to give the most appropriate support offer to carers in Salford.

The recent SCIE guidance on provision of appropriate respite for carers could be used by the Carers 
Steering Group to support this work in Salford. The SCIE guidance recognises that; ‘Good breaks are 
personalised, planned, offer flexibility, a positive experience and are enjoyable, and that supporting 
carers to sleep or attend medical appointments is not a break.41

‘More provision and support with planned respite is needed, especially for holidays’ (Time out for 
carers)

4.1.5 Better access to support
Currently, carer support within the different localities of Salford varies and is inconsistent.  Each carer’s 
group visited had different variations of how it was organised and run.  The Irlam group appeared to 
have a committed group and an effective referral system from the GP, which gave members the 
opportunity to sign up with the carers centre and gain weekly guidance from a social Worker and a 
Health Improvement Worker who engaged with other groups and professionals in the local 
community.

This should be seen as a good practice example for other groups and the model shared with other 
localities to develop carer groups in their local community.

41 https://www.scie.org.uk/carers/breaks/key-messages (Accessed 11.07.2019).

Page 53

https://www.scie.org.uk/carers/breaks/key-messages


30

Some groups have not been able to access this level of support and feel it would benefit them in the 
future.

There was a strong message through the carer engagement that carers would like a more varied and 
community based support offer and in particular a more formalised offer of training. This could 
probably be developed through working with already existing training providers to firm up the training 
offer for carers, however, it could have some financial implications. 

 “It has been so important we can attend this group to get information and support from each other”. 
(Time out for Carers Group).

“We are lucky as we get our information at the group through the chair and the professionals who 
attend”. (Waterside Carers Group).

“We get our information from our group and the others in the dementia community” (Dementia 
Champions Group)

“We need more continuous professional support with the group for marketing, planning and funding”. 
(Time Out for Carers Group)

4.1.6 Young carers & young adult carers 
Young carers in Salford and partner organisations working with them have identified the following 
key gaps in provision to support young carers:

 Identification of young carers needs to be improved so that carers are offered appropriate 
support early on

 Young carers assessments -  so that all identified young carers receive a young carers 
assessment that takes a whole family approach, is carried out collaboratively with joint 
responsibility for identification of young carers across children’s and adults services

 Schools - supported to identify young carers, and encouraged to participate in the young 
carers in schools programme and adoption of the Carers Passport.

 GP’s supported to identify more young carers
 Young carers support - a clear and transparent offer of support to young carers and their 

families which is published and readily available - young carers in Salford would like their own 
service up to 25 with a single point of contact and a clear pathway from children’s to adult’s 
services – this would enable them to have more age appropriate support such as the Young 
Carers Programme at the Lowry Theatre. 

 Participation - young carers to be supported to participate in regional events and activities 
and to contribute to a GM Young Carers Board

 Young Carers Champion - every school and college to identify a Young Carers Champion who 
actively supports Young Carers in education

 The support needs of young carers in some of the minority communities to be better 
recognised and addressed such as young carers’ supporting family members who are asylum 
seekers

A young carers group has been formed across Greater Manchester to oversee the implementation of 
these priorities. We will need to ensure that this work feeds into the Carers Steering Group in Salford.
 

Page 54



31

4.1.7 Professionals that are carer aware and knowledgeable of local services

Training for front line staff to recognise, identify and signpost carers for support
Engagement with Salford carers suggested that some carers did not perceive themselves as a carer 
because they primarily saw themselves in other roles such as Mum or Dad. This made them reluctant 
to access the support they could have, as they did not identify as a carer. Carers are not always easy 
to recognise e.g parent carers. 

Some carers said they felt like they have been passed from ‘pillar to post’ with no favourable solution.
If certain staff were more aware of the support available to carers they may be able to identify and 
encourage carers who need support and signpost more effectively.  

“I have always been a carer and it has not been easy to find information” (survey)
“GP’s surgeries should give out more information and signpost.  Some are very good but others not so 
good” (Time out for Carers Group)
“I would have thought the social workers and GP would have given me information, I had to google 
and research” (survey)
“Lack of staff training, just go from department to department” (survey)

4.1.8 Access to the right professionals and support – through the development 
of a Carer’s Pathway 
Some people felt they had the right access to professionals and support in the groups as they were 
already connected.  However carers expressed some confusion around the changes in services, and 
were not clear where and who to go to for additional support.  

It was felt that the ASC Contact Centre staff could be more aware of the range of services available. 
The development of the carer’s pathway could support better signposting to enable carers to access 
the right professionals and support at the right time.  Carers suggested that they should be referred 
to the Carers Service as a single point of contact, as currently they often go to ASC Contact Centre in 
the first instance. 

“I received extra support after endless phone calls”. (survey)

“You seem to get passed from service to service”.  Endless phone calls with very little outcome (survey)

“I can’t seem to get any support from Social Workers.  How do I get a Carers Assessment I don’t even 
know if I have had one”. (Time Out for Carers Group)

“Who should we be contacting because Social Services is very difficult and they never get back to you”. 
(Dementia Carers Group)

“I needed additional support in finding the right care home when my husband was at home, but none 
was available”. (Dementia Carers Group)

4.1.9 Better access to training for carers 
Training for carers is currently provided by the Carers Service and aims to create bespoke training as 
required.  Additionally Salford Parent Voice run training for parent carers around a range of issues. 
Engagement with Salford carers found that carers felt there needed to be more flexibility in the 
training offer with more evening opportunities to meet the individual carer’s needs to plan ahead and 

Page 55



32

avoid crisis.  People are becoming aware they need to self-help more and are more willing to attend 
training to make their lives easier.  

Most carers found it challenging to access the training without the support to care for their loved 
ones.  It would be advised to develop training around “Introduction to the Carer Journey” to explain 
what benefits and additional support is on offer to assist carers on their journey.  Carers may feel more 
confident to attend further training if they know they have support.

Salford may wish to consider building in a more formalised training element to the next carers contract 
so that the provider delivers training to professionals to raise awareness of carer issues and services 
and support available in Salford. This model could include developed materials for partners to deliver 
in house through a train the trainer model also.  This would improve awareness and consistency of 
information given to cares across Salford, and help with issues of terminology used.  

‘We need to have some choice about how and where to learn how to use a computer as a group so we 
can support each other.  This would be the best way for us to connect and get to find out things, but 
the training was not appropriate’. (Time out for Carers Group).

‘It costs too much to get all the legal documents in place’ (Irlam & Cadishead group)

4.1.10 Communication Strategy 
Many people were aware of the Salford carers Centre but not all the services they offer.  There were 
many queries around additional support. Findings from our engagement with carers reflects that 
communications need to be aimed at certain target audiences in a language and format that people 
understand, and more readily available for carers.  The communication strategy needs to include a 
range of different ways of communication, including the use of social media, as whilst some carers 
clearly stated that this was not their preferred method, for others, such as working carers, this is a 
preferred way of communicating. Salford needs a clearer approach for communication around all 
aspects of issues for carers; 

 How to disseminate info re services
 How to identify new carers
 How to raise awareness in community
 How to raise awareness in the workplace

There is a requirement to consider how partners across Salford develop a joined up multi-agency 
approach to communication with carers in Salford. Consideration needs to be taken of disability and 
equality and diversity in the city when communicating and engaging with carers to ensure the best 
possibilities of them accessing the information and support. 

“I would like to know what more is available from the carers centre” (Waterside Carers Group)

“We need a central point of contact to either ask for help, raise questions or sign posting to the right 
service” (survey)

“We do get a sporadic newsletter from the carers centre, but need the paper one as I do not use a 
computer” (Time Out for Carers Group)

“Better communication and information as not everyone can access the internet” (survey)

Page 56



33

4.2  Priority areas of work likely to require additional funding:

4.2.1 Support for carers in secondary care 
Salford is now in the last phase of running the pilot to offer a carers support service located at Salford 
Royal Hospital (the on-going Enhanced Carers Pilot).  The service has offered bespoke support to 
carers at a point of crisis enabling carers to feel more resilient at the point of discharge and more able 
to continue in their caring role.  Additionally, the pilot has successfully identified new carers. This 
project will be reviewed and with a commissioning decision made in 2019/20.
Assumed investment requirement: £100k per annum

4.2.2 Working carers
Support for working carers has been highlighted through the work of Greater Manchester and is not 
an area of support that has previously been offered.  Work has started to implement some of the best 
practice outlined in the GM ‘Working Carers Toolkit’ as outlined earlier in this strategy, however this 
is currently a gap in provision and there is a need for a designated resource from within the carers 
provision to co-ordinate Salford’s approach and encourage a range of employers to adopt and apply 
the Working Carers Toolkit. There will be a role for the Carers Steering Group to oversee and monitor 
developments in this area to ensure that paid working carers are being supported in Salford.
Assumed investment requirement: £50k per annum

4.2.3 Locality Based support model 
Carers are asking for a wider range of peer support mentoring and befriending networks and less 
formal support options e.g. peer support and befriending services that would be best delivered 
through a community resource model, across a neighbourhood footprint, making best use of 
community assets and technology/social media. Commissioners would like to invest in neighbourhood 
community assets for carers
Assumed investment requirement: £20k per annum

4.2.4 Growth 
The strategy identifies population growth and demographic changes that have and will continue to 
impact on commissioning investment decisions. Based on an assumed growth factor of 4%, 
commissioners are proposing a carers growth investment model based on the current investment of 
£377k into the commissioned carers service and £400k spend on Carers Personal Budgets.
Assumed growth investment requirement: £30k per annum (4% from 2019/20)

Commissioner also recognised that the current Carers Service has not had an inflationary update 
since the start of the current contract. 
Inflation uplift from 2014: £15k (based on 2%) per annum x 5 years = £75k

Total commissioning investment: £200k pa, plus a one year inflationary 
adjustment of £75k

Page 57



34

5. Implementation, governance and monitoring of the Carers Strategy

5.1 Taking Action 
This strategy forms the basis for our approach to achieve our shared vision for carers in Salford: a 
‘carer friendly’ city that ensures that the wellbeing of our diverse carers is maximised. The strategy is 
a ‘call to action’ across the Salford partnership to grasp the opportunities and deliver the changes that 
will further enhance the lived experience of carers in Salford. 

This strategy describes the national and local strategic context of carers and goes on to outline 
Salford’s current provision of carers support. It then appraises and analyses our current position, to 
draw conclusions about what is working well, what could work better and where the gaps are.

The strategy describes opportunities for improvement and, in order to secure these opportunities 
partner agencies, groups, communities and different parts of the Salford system are being called to 
action to consider their response to the strategy. Developments and actions need to be identified by 
partners and communities and systems need to be reviewed.

Partners are asked to develop their own action plans on how they will work towards the vision and 
objectives of the strategy and make a difference for carers in Salford. Strategic Commissioning will 
ensure action plans and developments will be joined up and partners will be supported so there is a 
consistent understanding of progress.

5.2 On-going Engagement with the Community
To ensure that this strategy is meaningful and makes a difference to local people, engagement with 
Salford carers and key stakeholders, on the overarching action plan and priority areas of work, will 
continue throughout the lifetime of the strategy. Engagement will continue in a varied and flexible 
approach, offering local people choice about how they engage with the on-going work for carers. 

It is intended that the Carers Steering Group will identify and agree a suitable model for on-going 
engagement that ensures that the voice of carers from a range of neighbourhood carers groups can 
link into a wider engagement group. 

5.3 Co-design of an Overarching Action Plan – An overarching action plan will be 
developed by the Carers Steering Group.  The overarching action plan will be underpinned by an 
assessment of the strategic priorities, current progress, finance requirements and capacity to 
undertake the work which will help us to manage our approach to the range of recommendations in 
the strategy. Action plans developed by partners and other working groups will feed into the 
overarching action plan.

The overarching action plan will ensure that local Salford people will be able to hold the work to 
account and fully engage with developing and implementing the approaches arising from the strategy.

5.4 Monitoring of the action plan
The Carer’s Steering Group, with representation from all key partners, will meet regularly to monitor 
the implementation of the overarching action plan and ensure that the views of carers are informing 
all developments.  

Page 58



35

5.5 Governance of the Strategy and Action Plan
Governance of the carers’ strategy through the implementation of the action plan will be through the 
Adults Commissioning Committee where six monthly updates on the implementation of the strategy 
and action plan will be given. 

Additionally progress on the delivery of the action plan will be monitored through engagement with 
carers groups through the engagement model agreed by the Carers Steering Group.

5.6 Financial Implications 
The Strategy clearly outlines an intention to work with more carers and in different ways, outlining a 
number of areas for review and development.  Section four clarifies which priorities require re-shaping 
of current services and which will lead to the development of new services that will require additional 
funding.

Population growth and changes in need 
The strategy outlines a clear vision to identify and work with more carers. Additionally, we know that 
the number of carers will increase as a result of increased population and people living longer with 
more complex conditions.  This is already reflected in the increased complexity of support that the 
Salford Carers Service are offering.

5.7 Other funding opportunities
During the course of this strategy, the need for additional funding in order to achieve a certain aspect 
of work might become apparent.  Funding may be identified for specific projects as they emerge 
through applications for transformation funds or grants. For example, some of the young carer’s 
priorities may need to be delivered on a GM footprint that would require a specific funding stream.  
Consideration should be given to ring fencing an allocated resource to fund specific carers projects as 
they emerge, with the view of achieving some of the broader objectives outlined in this strategy.   
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



SALFORD ALL AGE 
CARERS STRATEGY 

2019-2024

An Integrated Commissioning approach: how 
we plan to make life better for carers in Salford 

Page 61



CONTENTS

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 2

Page 62



FORWARD

We are pleased to present Salford’s 
Integrated All Age Carers Strategy 
which sets out our vision to create 
a ‘carer friendly’ Salford by placing 
carers at the centre of decisions 
about them. The strategy is a call to 
action to all partners to recognise 
the value of carers and work to 
ensure that all carers’s wellbeing is 
maximised. 

Carers play a vital role in our communities 
and caring is a fundamental part of family 
life. But carers are too often unseen, 
their role comes with responsibilities and 
complex emotions hard to fully understand 
until we are asked to be, or become reliant 
on, a carer ourselves. Yet, without the 
support of carers, our health and social 
care system would struggle to provide the 
level of care and support that people need 
to continue living in their own homes and 
communities.

A very real sense of satisfaction can be 
drawn from caring for a loved one and 
carers often feel a deep sense of pride 
and enjoyment from this responsibility. 
However, we do recognise that caring 
often has a significant impact on the 
health, wellbeing and independence of 
carers themselves. Too many carers are 
unaware of, or perhaps are reluctant to 
ask for, support.

As we deal with an ageing population and 
longer life expectancies, more than ever 
we need to support people to live in their 

Paul Dennett  
(Salford City Mayor)  

own homes and communities for as long 
as possible and carers are a key partner in 
making this happen. When people take 
on this extremely important role, we are 
determined to ensure that they receive 
the personalised support they need to feel 
fulfilled, independent and healthy.

This strategy has been produced in 
collaboration with carers, key partners 
and professionals supporting carers. It 
embraces the work that has been done 
across Greater Manchester developing the 
Carers Charter and the Carer Exemplar 
model, and builds on our previous 
strategies and the progress we have made 
so far in identifying and supporting carers. 

It is a key priority for Salford that carers are 
supported and empowered to continue 
on their caring journey in the way that 
they choose. We look forward to working 
together to make this a reality.

Dr Tom Tasker 
(Chair, Salford NHS 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group)

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 3

Page 63



This strategy has been developed through a Carers Steering group with 
representation from a wide range of partners to reflect the integrated all 
age approach to the strategy. The strategy has also been informed by the 
lived experience of carers in Salford through extensive engagement and 
reference to the Carers Needs Assessment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Carers Steering group included representation from:

The Carers Steering group would like to thank everyone who shared their 
experience, knowledge and expertise throughout the development of this strategy. 
This involvement has ensured that the themes and priorities identified in this strategy 
are those of most importance to Salford carers and that the implementation of the 
action plan will have the biggest impact to support carers in their everyday lives.

• Salford CVS

• Salford Age Uk

• Healthwatch Salford

• Salford Carers Service

• Greater Manchester Mental Health 
NHS Foundation Trust (GMMH)

• Salford Care Organisation

• Salford Public Health

• City West Housing Trust

• Salford Parent Voice

• Salford Adult Social Care (ASC)

• Salford City Council

• Carer Social Workers

• Clinical Commissioning Group 
Communications and Engagement 
team

• Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust

• Clinical leads

• Primary Care

• Integrated Commissioning for Adults

• Commissioning for Children

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 4

Page 64



PARTNERS IN THE DEVELOPMENT 
OF THE CARERS STRATEGY

Salford
Carers

Strategy

Salford
CCG

Carers SCC

SRFT
Salford 

Healthwatch

GMMH
City West 
Housing

Trust

Salford
Public Heath

Salford
CVS

Salford
Carers Centre

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 5

Page 65



INTRODUCTION

A carer is someone of any age who supports, unwaged, a relative, partner 
or friend who due to physical or mental illness, disability, frailty or addiction 
could not manage without that support.1

Much work has been done across Greater Manchester to better understand the need 
of carers. The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (GMHSCP) 
has worked closely with the Greater Manchester Carers Consortium to develop an 
integrated approach to the identification, assessment and meeting the needs of 
carers in relation to their health and wellbeing. This is outlined in the ‘Commitment 
to Carers’2 and the ‘Charter for Carers’3. Appendix 1 is a flow chart outlining the GM 
Exemplar model of support to carers.

Salford has fully adopted the Greater Manchester carers model and this strategy 
outlines how we are going to deliver this here in Salford.

The strategy reflects statutory duties and national policy drivers as outlined in section 
two.

The strategy has been informed by extensive engagement work hearing the lived 
experience of carers across Salford. The views of carers have been published in a 
separate document, the Carers Needs Assessment4.  

Whilst developing this strategy we have been able to review and evaluate current 
work to recognise our achievements so far and identify areas where we need to 
focus going forward. 

This strategy has been developed through a steering group with broad 
representation of local health and social care providers, local voluntary sector 
organisations and carers.

1  Greater Manchester Carers Charter http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf (Accessed 3.08.19). 
2   GM Commitment to Carers http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/GMHSCP-Carers-Commitment-FINAL.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).
3   GM Charter for Carers: http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).
4   Add reference for Needs assess when on website

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 6

Page 66



OUR VISION, AIM AND OBJECTIVES 

Vision

Our vision is a ‘carer friendly’ city where the diversity of our carers is recognised 
and key partners from health and social care work together to ensure that a carer’s 
wellbeing is maximised through appropriate and accessible support offering the right 
support at the right time. 

We want all carers in Salford to be supported and empowered to continue on their 
caring journey in the way that they choose. 

Aim

This strategy aims to reflect the lived experience of carers across Salford and Greater 
Manchester. It aims to recognise the needs of carers so that this can inform our work 
supporting carers in Salford. 

The strategy gives an overview of local and national policy drivers to inform the strategic 
priorities outlined in the plan and ensure that all partner agencies are aware of their 
statutory responsibilities. 

The strategy aims to evidence to carers, and all those concerned about carer issues, how 
our priorities in Salford have been created through reviewing current provision of carer 
services and hearing the experiences of carers in Salford. 

Objectives

In line with the Greater Manchester Carers Charter, Salford’s objectives are as 
follows:

• Objective One: Identifying Carers

• Objective Two: Improving Health 
and Wellbeing  

• Objective Three: Carers as Real and 
Expert Partners   

• Objective Four: Right Help at the 
Right Time

• Objective Five: Young Carers and 
Young Adult Carers

• Objective Six: Carers in / into 
Employment 

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 7

Page 67



Principles

Underpinning these objectives are a number of core principles that will 
inform our approach to working with carers in Salford which include:

• Carers must have choice and control about their caring role

• Carers will be valued and respected as expert care partners 

• Carers will be supported to have a life of their own alongside their caring role

• Carers will be supported in a range of ways emotionally and practically 

• Carers will be supported so that they are not forced into financial hardship by 
their caring role

• Carers will be supported to stay mentally and physically well and will be treated 
with dignity

• Young people will be supported to undertake an agreed and appropriate caring 
role to support their need to learn, develop and thrive and to enjoy positive 
childhoods

Informed by the National Carers Strategy 20125 and the Greater Manchester Carers 
Charter 6.

5   National Carers Strategy 2012: https://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/national-carers-strategy/ (Accessed 25.02.2019). 
6   Greater Manchester Carers Charter:  http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Carers-Charter-FINAL.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 8

Page 68



ONE. Why do we need a Carers Strategy?

This section gives an overview of legislation, national and regional policy 
drivers to outline the legal requirements and policy commitments that are in 
place to support carers.

1.1 What do we know about carers nationally?

Over the past few years the significant contribution of the carer role to health and 
social care services has been highlighted7. It is vitally important that we ensure that 
services for carers meet carers’ expectations and requirements, enabling them to 
continue caring for as long as they wish to do so.

Nationally, there are an estimated 6.5 million unpaid carers, accounting for 1 in 8 
adults and estimates suggest they save the state £119 billion a year8.   

Carers have fewer opportunities to do the things that other people may take for 
granted, such as access to paid employment, learning opportunities or having quality 
time to spend on their own, or with friends. 

For young carers, it can often compromise their education and social life; limiting 
their life chances9.  

70% of carers were over £10,000 worse off as a result of reduced earnings

45% of carers said their financial circumstances were affecting their health

54% of carers have experienced depression because of their caring role; carers also 
felt more anxious (77%) and more stressed (83%) because of their caring role10.  

It has been recognised that healthcare staff are not always proactive in signposting 
carers to relevant support or information; when information is given, it comes from 
charities and support groups11.  

Findings from a study in 2013 highlight that 70% of carers come into contact with 
health professionals, yet only 10% of these are identified as carers12.  

7  Carers UK (2014) The State of Caring 2014: http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2014 (Accessed 25.02.2019) 
8  Buckner, L and Yeandle, S (2011) Valuing Carers 2011, calculating the value of carers’ support. Centre for International Research on Care, Labour & Equalities 

University of Leeds. London: Carers UK.
9  Carers UK (2014) The State of Caring 2014: http://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/state-of-caring-2014 (Accessed 25.02.2019).
10   Carers UK (2015) The State of Caring 2015: https://www.carersuk.org/images/Facts_about_Carers_2015.pdf (Last accessed 25.02.2019)
11  NHS England & NHS Improving Quality. (2014) Commitment for Carers: Report of the findings and outcomes. London. Office for National Statistics (ONS) 

(2011) Carers data Available at: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/index.html
12  Shoneguard 2013 check website with GP charter

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 9

Page 69



It has been recognised that healthcare staff are not always proactive in signposting 
carers to relevant support or information; when information is given, it comes from 
charities and support groups13.  

Findings from a study in 2013 highlight that 70% of carers come into contact with 
health professionals, yet only 10% of these are identified as carers14.  

42% of carers have missed out on financial support as a result of not getting the 
right information and advice15. 

1.2 Legislation  

The Care Act 201416  

This statute replaces previous legislation regarding carers and people being cared for 
and outlines the duties of the Local Authority to:

• Carry out carers’ assessments and needs assessments, which may be combined 
with an adult’s assessment 

• Determine who is eligible for support 

• Charge for both residential care and community care 

The Care Act describes the following changes in relation to carers:

• All carers’ have the right to an assessment when they appear to have needs

• All  carers have the right to support if they meet eligibility criteria

• Local Authorities are required to provide information to Carers 

• Local Authorities may arrange for other organisations such as charities or private 
companies to carry out assessments

• Local Authorities have a duty to promote an ‘individual’s wellbeing’

• Local Authorities must support carers to achieve the outcomes they want in day-
to-day life

• Local Authorities must have regard to whether the carer works or wishes to do so

• Local Authorities must have regard to carer participation in education, training 
and recreation

13   NHS England & NHS Improving Quality. (2014) Commitment for Carers: Report of the findings and outcomes. London. Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
(2011) Carers data Available at: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/index.html  (Accessed 3.08.19).

14  Shoneguard 2013 check website with GP charter
15  Carers UK (2015) The State of Caring 2015: https://www.carersuk.org/images/Facts_about_Carers_2015.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).
16  Care Act 2014 Statutory Guidance https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance (Accessed 

23.05.19).

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 10

Page 70



The Care Act puts carers on an equal legal footing with those they care for. For those 
assessed as having eligible needs, authorities are required to provide advocacy and 
personal budgets.

Young Carers

The Care Act 2014 also makes specific provision for young carers aged 16/17 in the 
transition from children’s to adult’s services.

A young carer is someone aged under 18 who helps look after a relative with a 
disability, illness, mental health condition, or drug or alcohol problem. Young adult 
carers are young people aged between 16 and 25 who are caring for another child 
or young person, or an adult.

In relation to young carers, the Care Act requires that:

• Where it appears to a local authority that a young carer is likely to have needs for 
support after becoming 18, the authority must assess:

 ○ Whether the young carer has needs for support and if so what those needs are 

 ○ Whether the young carer has needs for support after becoming 18, and if so 
what those needs are likely to be 

Assessments for Young Carers 

The Care Act 20142 requires local authorities to consider the needs of young carers 
if, during the assessment of an adult with care needs, or of an adult carer, it appears 
that a child is providing, or intends to provide care. In these circumstances the local 
authority must consider whether the care being provided by the child is excessive 
or inappropriate; and how the child’s caring responsibilities affects their wellbeing, 
education and development.

Local authorities should ensure that adults’ and children’s services work together 
to offer young carers and their families an effective service, able to respond to the 
needs of a young carer, the person cared for, and others in the family. This avoids 
the need for multiple assessments where children and adults find they are expected 
to give the same answers to professionals from different services, coming into their 
home at different times.

The Children and Families Act17 

The Children and Families Act 2014 gives young carers the entitlement to the 
same help and support as adult carers. The legislation means that all young carers 
under the age of 18 are entitled to an assessment of their support needs. The Local 
Authority has to consider what services it can provide to meet these needs. Specific 
duties for Local Authorities under this legislation are:

17   Children and Families Act 2014, legislation.gov.uk http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted (Accessed 20.05.2019).

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 11

Page 71



• Taking reasonable steps to identify the extent to which there are young carers in 
their area with needs for support and, if so, what those support needs are

• Carry out an assessment for young carers upon request 

The Children Act 1989

A Local authority in England must assess whether a parent carer within their area 
has needs for support and, if so, what those needs are.  A local authority in England 
must take reasonable steps to identify the extent to which there are parent carers 
within their area who have needs for support.

1.3 National Policy Drivers

1.3.1 The Government’s Carers Action Plan 2018 – 2020 ‘Supporting Carers Today’.

This remains the current national policy for supporting carers18. The plan sets out the 
cross-government programme of work to support carers until 2020. It is structured 
around the following themes:

• services and systems that work for carers

• employment and financial wellbeing

• supporting young carers

• recognising and supporting carers in the wider community and society

• building research and evidence to improve outcomes for carers

The plan draws on responses to the Carer’s Strategy ‘call for evidence’ 201619.

1.3.2 The Prime Minister’s Challenge on dementia 202020  

The Prime Minister’s challenge on dementia 2020 sets out a vision to create a 
society where those with dementia, their carers and families, receive high quality 
compassionate care from diagnosis  to end of life across all settings; at home, 
hospital or care home. Carers of people with dementia undoubtedly provide a vital 
role and we know that the availability of appropriate care and support and the 
quality of services has a significant bearing on whether carers feel able to take a 

18   https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713781/carers-action-plan-2018-2020.pdf (Accessed 
25.02.2019).

19   https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/713695/response-to-carers-call-for-evidence.pdf (Accessed 
25.02.19). 

20  The Prime Minister’s Challenge on dementia 2020 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414344/
pm-dementia2020.pdf (Accessed 20.05.19).

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 12

Page 72



break from their caring responsibilities and providing carers with better information, 
training and coping strategies, including emotional and psychological support, 
improves their quality of life.

1.3.3 NHS England’s Commitment to Carers 201421  

Identifies 8 priority areas for the development of increased support to Carers in 
Primary Care22.  

These are: 

1. Raising the profile of carers 

2. Education, training and information 

3. Service development 

4. Person-centred, well-coordinated care 

5. Primary care 

6. Commissioning support 

7. Partnership links 

8. NHS England as an employer 

1.3.4 NHS Long Term Plan (Jan 2019)23 

This plan outlines a revised health model in which patients get more options, 
better support, and properly joined-up care at the right time in the optimal care 
setting. Supporting carers is recognised as an important strand to this model, and in 
particular the following priorities are identified:

• greater recognition and support for carers in both primary and secondary care 
(including the implementation of Quality Markers for GP practices developed by 
CQC) 

• particular focus on supporting carers in vulnerable communities 

• a more proactive approach to identifying and supporting young carers 

• develop digitally enabled support

• include carers themselves in the development of carer services 

21  https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/commitment-to-carers-may14.pdf (Accessed 25.02.2019).
22  NHS England (2014) Commitment to Carers Available at: http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/commitment-to-carers-may14.pdf (Accessed 

25.02.2019).
23  https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf (Accessed 01.04.2019).

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 13

Page 73



1.3.5 NHS Care Quality markers 2019

NHS are introducing Care Quality markers that have been created through working 
in partnership with Carers Trust, Carers UK and The Children’s Society, and have 
been endorsed by the Care Quality Commission (CQC).

The markers are based on what carers have said matters most to them, and consist 
of six questions that can be used by care services to demonstrate how effective they 
are in recognising and supporting carers.

The questions have been based on what carers, and their representatives, have told 
us matter most to them, and require the care service to show how they go about 
supporting carers for each of the six themes identified. Each question is supported 
by a number of practical ideas that care services can put into place to help them 
develop the support they give to carers. The care service completes an annual 
declaration as evidence of how it is supporting carers and this evidence can be used 
for CQC inspections. 

1.3.6 Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) and Carers UK  

Guidance issued June 2019 on providing and commissioning carers’ breaks, plus 
advice and information for carers on how to get a break24.

Research by Carers UK shows 46 per cent of unpaid carers were unable to get a break 
in the last five years, even though they wanted one.  Evidence indicates that there 
needs to be a wider choice of breaks available, and to ensure they are accessible, 
personalised and enjoyable for both the carer – and the person they care for.

1.4 Regional Policy Drivers

Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership work for Carers  

National policy documents outlining themes and priorities for carers work, as 
outlined above in this section, echo the priorities set out in the Greater Manchester 
Carer’s Charter.  Salford has made a decision to align this Carers Strategy to the 
Greater Manchester exemplar model in order to align our work here in Salford with 
the broader work going on in Greater Manchester, and has adopted the GM Carer 
objectives in this strategy to reflect this.  

The Carer Exemplar model identifies the key elements that should be available to 
carers across Greater Manchester wherever they live.

24   Scie Guidance on Commissioning carer’s breaks and respite (2019) www.scie.org.uk/carers/breaks (Accessed 1/07/2019).  

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 14

Page 74



In line with the Greater Manchester Carers Charter, Salford’s objectives for 
carers are:

Objective One: Identifying Carers 
Carers will be identified as early as possible to ensure that appropriate support, 
advice and information are offered. Often carers only seek or are offered support 
once they reach a crisis point. Early identification can support the carer with the 
tools, knowledge and confidence to enable them to manage their caring role while 
still having a life of their own and maintaining their own health and wellbeing. We 
need to ensure that parent carers are identified as carers and their support needs are 
recognised and met. 

Objective Two: Improving Health and Wellbeing   
Caring can have a detrimental effect on the health and wellbeing of carers. Carers 
report significantly higher levels of poor health and levels of stress compared with 
non-carers. Carers often put their own health second to that of the person they care 
for. Supporting carers to maintain and improve their physical and mental health will 
benefit both carer and cared for.

Objective Three: Carers as Real and Expert Partners 
Carers will be recognised as “experts by experience” and respected as such. Carers 
often feel excluded from the planning of care for the person they support and feel 
that this results in stress for both the carer and the cared for. Carers are a valuable 
resource and can offer experience and knowledge to support co-production of 
service design, commissioning and quality monitoring.

Objective Four: Right Help at the Right Time 
Carers identified the provision of reliable and flexible care that is available to suit 
them and the person they look after, as being essential to enable them to continue 
caring with confidence. 

Information, advice and support will be readily available, easily accessible and 
appropriate to the needs of carers. Having access to appropriate information 
can give carers the knowledge to allow them to take control of their caring role. 
Information provided by professionals will be honest and transparent.

Objective Five: Young Carers and Young Adult Carers 
With so many adult responsibilities, young carers often miss out on opportunities 
that other young people have to play and learn. Many struggle educationally and are 
often bullied for being ‘different’. They can become isolated, with no relief from the 
pressures at home, and no chance to enjoy a normal childhood. They are often afraid 
to ask for help as they fear letting the family down or involving services that would 
then lead to more formal processes that they may not feel they have any control over. 

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 15

Page 75



Objective Six: Carers in / into Employment   
It is recognised that it is hard for carers to hold down jobs and to enter into 
employment, as policies need to be flexible and tailored to individual caring roles. 
There is a risk of carers leaving organisations in their later working life when they 
have built up experience and skills, if organisations do not implement policies that 
are flexible to their needs. GMHSCP has worked regionally to create a best practice 
guidance for employers in supporting carers in the work place called ‘A Greater 
Manchester Working carers Toolkit’25. 

1.5 Local Policy and Key Drivers

Salford carers are a diverse group. Improving the wellbeing of carers in Salford and 
ensuring that all are offered the right support at the right time is a cross cutting 
priority that requires a whole system approach.  Below are some key local drivers 
that also outline on-going work to support carers.

1.5.1 Salford Locality Plan: Start Well, Live Well, Age Well26 

The Salford Locality Plan outlines how services in Salford will be developed to 
improve health and wellbeing across Salford and remove health inequalities, It 
explains how NHS Providers and Commissioners, Salford City Council and the 
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise sector will build on what is already in 
place so that services will be more effective, closer to people’s homes and be more 
efficient.  This is a five year plan 2017 – 2022 that will enable all Salford residents to 
start well, live well and age well. 

The Locality Plan identifies the following priorities for Carers in Salford:

• Supporting those with caring roles to identify themselves at an early stage, 
recognising the value of their contribution, and involving them in the design and 
planning of care packages 

• Enabling those with caring responsibilities to meet their learning and 
employment potential 

• Personalised support for carers and those they care for, to have a family and 
community life 

• Supporting carers to be mentally and physically well 

• Protecting young carers from the impact of caring

25  ‘A Greater Manchester Working Carers Toolkit’ http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/10b-Greater-Manchester-Support-to-Carers-Appendix-
B-Greater-Manchester-Working-Carers-Toolkit.pdf (Accessed 23.05.19).

26  http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan (Accessed 01.04.2019).

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 16

Page 76



1.5.2 Local Plan for Salford City Council ‘A Fairer City’

This is due to be published September 2019 and will develop further some of the 
broader principles outlined in the Salford Locality Plan working to create a place 
where all Salford citizens, including carers can thrive.  

1.5.3 Salford’s Anti-Poverty Strategy27 

The Anti-Poverty Strategy recognises that carers are a group particularly at risk 
of poverty and promotes a vision of   “a fairer and more inclusive Salford, where 
everyone is able to reach their full potential and live prosperous and fulfilling lives 
free from poverty and inequality.”

In order to deliver the strategy, three priority areas are referenced in the 
strategy, namely:

• Supporting people who are struggling in poverty now. 

• Preventing people from falling into poverty in the first place. 

• Influencing the Government and other national organisations to get a better deal 
for Salford people.

1.5.4 Salford Mental Health All Age Strategy 2019 - 202428  

The strategy sets out our local commitment to addressing mental health and 
wellbeing in Salford, and demonstrates a joined-up approach which actively 
encourages engagement from all agencies across Salford. This strategy identifies 
a number of issues for carers either using mental health services themselves or 
supporting someone using mental health services and these are also priorities for this 
Carers Strategy.

They include: 

• Supporting carers with improved understanding and training around mental 
health awareness

• Supporting parents and families with additional needs e.g. children with 
disabilities, young carers supporting parents with mental health needs

• Improving the advice and information provided to people with mental health 
conditions, their families and carers at the point of diagnosis

• Navigation of care and support for people in the community who are diagnosed 
with dementia and their carers

27  No one left behind: Tackling poverty in Salford, Salford City Partnership (Accessed 01.04.2019) http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/assets/11-Adult-Social-Care-
Transformation-Programme-FINAL-v2-1.pdf [Accessed 9/11/2017).

28  https://extranet.salfordccg.nhs.uk/application/files/2615/5412/4803/Salford_Mental_health_All_Age_Integrated_Commissioning_Strategy.pdf (Accessed 
3.08.19).

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 17

Page 77



• Mental Health Care Pathway Redesign: review the impact of the Carers Support 
Transformation Project, with a view to revising the carers support offer for carers 
of people under the Early Intervention Service, Home Treatment Teams and 
Inpatient Units.

1.5.5 Salford Care Organisation Dementia Strategy29 

This strategy embraces the Prime Minister’s Challenge on Dementia 2020 outlining 
a vision to create a society where those with dementia, their carers and families, 
receive high quality compassionate care from diagnosis  to end of life across all 
settings; at home, hospital or care home.

This strategy involved significant consultation with people with dementia and their 
carers to ensure that their priorities are recognised.

1.5.6 Salford Early Help Strategy for Children, Young People and Families 
2018 - 202130 

The idea of early help can be simply stated as working together with children, young 
people and families to prevent problems occurring, or provide better support when they 
do. It’s about identifying needs within families early, and providing preventative support 
and intervention before problems become complex and entrenched.

The strategy recognises the significant role that young carers play and the need to 
support young carers as part of an all family approach. 

1.5.7 Shaping Our City 0-25 Transformation Projects31 

Shaping Our City projects create closer working between Salford City Council and 
partners to support children, young people and families. The aim is to ensure that 
children and young people achieve their potential. The Transformation projects which are 
likely to have the greatest impact on young carers are: 

• The Bridge - A single front door for all concerns and information requests about 
families in Salford, including information and referrals for young carer and parent 
carer assessments

• Early Help - Four locality teams made up of staff from different organisations to 
work together to provide early help to families, ensuring that young carers and their 
families receive the advice, help and services they need, on the basis of an assessment 

• Integrated Working Test Cases - Closer working between the City Council and 
NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group, in three specific areas working together 
to develop and deliver more streamlined services in a more cost effective way. Test 
cases will focus on: emotional health and wellbeing; children with disabilities and 
children with speech, language and communication needs 

29  http://www.srft.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=110165&type=full&servicetype=Inline&filename=/Dementia_Strategy.pdf (Accessed 01.04.2019).
30  https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/1252/early-help-strategy-for-children-young-people-and-families-2018-21.pdf
31  https://www.partnersinsalford.org/shapingourcity025 (Accessed 01.04.2019).

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 18

Page 78



1.5.8 The Salford Standard

The Salford Standard describes the level of care that can be expected when visiting 
a GP practice in Salford.  Launched in April 2016, the aim is to make it easier to see 
a GP and for everyone in Salford to get the same level of service and care whichever 
GP practice they go to.  The Salford Standard consists of 10 domains with Key 
Performance Indicators (KPI’s) in each. Carers are classed as a vulnerable group and 
three performance indicators are included:

• Carers aged 18 and over, registered within the practice

• Carers aged 17 and under, registered within the practice

• Carers offered a health check

 GP’s surgeries should give out more information and 
signpost. Some are very good but others not so good 

Time out for Carers Group

The legislation outlined in this section will inform this strategy to ensure that Salford 
is delivering on its statutory responsibilities to carers. The GM six priorities for carers 
that this strategy has adopted clearly align to the national legislation and regional 
policy drivers summarised in this section. Below, the strategy summarises the issues 
and priorities that carers in Salford have told us about. This strategy will consider 
national and regional policy drivers in light of the experience of Salford carers. 

Salford All Age Carers Strategy 19

Page 79



Page 80



Children’s Scrutiny Panel 
Work Programme and Recommendations 2019-20

SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE DATES & AGENDA ITEMS

Date Topic/Action Responsible officer (s)

11th Sept 2019 Support offer to Young Carers Head of Service (TBC)

9th Oct 2019 Pupil Place Planning
Service Groups Budgets

Cathy Starbuck
Chris Mee/Dave Cope

13th Nov 2019 Training/Briefing Session
 Reasons why children go into care
 Causes of family breakdown
 Update re. No Wrong Door
 Extra-curricular activities available

Zoe Fearon (TBC)

11th Dec 2019 Key Stage 4 attainment

Transition work between years 6 and 7 

Impact of Learning City Update

Cathy Starbuck

Debbie Blackburn

12 February 2020 Managed Move Process in Salford Cathy Starbuck

11 March 2020 Recruitment and retention of Foster Carers (including an update on 
the pay and benefits package)

TBC

Regular monitoring reports

Service Group Budgets (Chris Mee/Dave Cope)
Service Group priorities (annually) 
School Performance Data (annually - Cathy Starbuck)

focus on agency costs 

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 6



2

                                                         Topics in abeyance

Children’s Dental Health
A Learning City
Development of GM agenda and how this affects the CSD

Reviews

RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER

Title of Report Date of submissions and responses Responsible Lead Member/officer

Support Offer to Young 
People 

Report to be submitted to LMB 18th April.  Zoe Fearon/Jeanette Staley 

Alternative Provision Report submitted to LMB 28th February – no 
recommendations made therefore no response required 
from service group.

Cathy Starbuck/Sheila Arnott

School Provider Arm  
Model and its impact on 
educational attainment

Report submitted to Lead Member for Children’s and 
Young People’s Services in March 17 - Feedback due on 
the 5 recommendations made in June 2017.
Once action plan received this is presented by the Chair of 
the panel (plus invitees) to the City Mayor 2017.

Charlotte Ramsden/Cathy Starbuck

Pupil Premium Monies Report submitted to Executive Lead Member for Children’s 
Services, Learning and Skills 25th April 2016. Progress 
reviewed in December 2016. 

Charlotte Ramsden/Cathy Starbuck 

Fostering in Salford Report submitted to Executive Lead member for Children’s 
Services, Learning and Skills Oct 2015  Progress reviewed

Charlotte Ramsden/Zoe Fearon/Helen 
Romaniszyn

P
age 82



3

January 2016 and Regular recruitment updates received 
(April 17) 
The next update is scheduled for the meeting on 11.03.20

Portfolio of the Board: Membership – 12 Members (10 Lab 2 Con)
 Children in Need
 Integrated Looked after Children
 Early Intervention
 Children’s Safeguarding
 Integrated Youth Support including Youth Offender 

Service
 Complex Needs Inclusion
 Complex Needs SEN
 School Provider Arm
 Starting Life Well
 Transforming Learning
 Skills and Work
 Primary School Place Planning programmes
 Partnerships and Commissioning (including the 

Children and Young People’s Trust)
  To scrutinise the council’s business plan and        

budget in this functional area.

Cllr A Brocklehurst (Chair)
Cllr M Barnes (Vice Chair)
Cllr J Collinson
Cllr P Dobbs
Cllr L Edwards
Cllr A Leitner
Cllr S Hesling
Cllr C McIntyre
Cllr M Pevitt
Cllr N Reynolds
Cllr Joan Walsh
1 labour vacancy
Co-opted Members – 
Mr Keith Archer
Ms Jacqui Morrissey
Mrs Judith Elderkin
Mr Seamus Martin (office ends 05.09.19)
Four  vacancies
Lead member: Councillor John Merry (Exec Support Cllr John Walsh) 
Key Officers: Charlotte Ramsden, Cathy Starbuck, Zoe Fearon, Deborah 
Blackburn 

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny

Scoping Document Review Topic (Spotlight/Value for Money/Task and Finish)

Name of review Accessing Children’s and Young 
People’s Mental Health Services

Spotlight/VFM/Task and Finish Group 
members

Cllr Laura Edwards
Cllr Lewis Nelson
Cllr Jillian Collinson
Cllr Mike Pevitt
Cllr Neil Reynolds
Cllr Jim Cammell

Co-option members

Key officers / service group/partner 
organisations

Key Organisations
CAMHS
42nd Street
Children’s commissioning
Achieve – Holding Families Programme
Place2Be
Education Psychology Service
Deborah Blackburn – Public Health

Organisations suggested to contact 
for written submissions
Gaddum Centre – Young Carers
Gaddum Centre – Bereavement Service
EMTAS
START – Salford Youth Arts
Salford Parent Voice
Salford LGBT Youth Group
Teenage to Adult Group
Youth Offending Service
Salford Foundation

Relevant Assistant Mayor(s) Cllr John Merry – Deputy Mayor & 
Lead for Children’s Services
Cllr Gina Reynolds – Lead Member for 
Health & Wellbeing

Timescales September 2019: Approval at committee
October 2019:

- Group meet to agree public 

Page 85



consultation document
- Public consultation – open for 

written submissions
November 2019: 

- Select committee day – hearing 
evidence

- Interviews if organisations/public 
feel necessary

December/January 2019: 
- Reviewing evidence

February 2019: 
- Report published

Rationale for the review.
(Key issues and/or reason for doing 
the review)

National Context:
Children’s society reports that 1 in 10 
children aged 5-16 have a diagnosable 
mental health condition and that 75% of 
young people experiencing mental health 
issues aren’t receiving treatment.

Rethink details that LGBT+ people are 
more likely to develop depression and 
anxiety compared to the rest of the 
population and, are more at risk of 
suicide and self-harm.

Mental Health Foundation details that 
BME people are more likely to be 
diagnosed with mental health problems, 
more likely to receive a poor outcome 
from their treatment and are more likely 
to disengage from mainstream mental 
health services.

Young Minds details that children mental 
health problems for those within the 
mental health system are at least three 
times that of the general population.

Local Context:
The largest consultation of young people 
aged 11-18 in Salford is UK Youth 
Parliament’s Make Your Mark 
consultation. Young people are asked to 
vote for the issue which matters most to 
them. In 2018, 37.84% of young people 
Salford voted and the top issue was 
Mental Health with over 1300 votes.

Objectives of review  Identify improvements to children 

Page 86



(Specify exactly what the review 
should achieve/what are the potential 
outcomes of the review e.g. service 
improvements, policy change, etc?) 

and young people’s experiences 
of mental health services.

 Suggesting potential preventative 
work in order to reduce the 
number of young people 
requesting support and therefore 
reduce the waiting times for 
children and young people’s 
mental health services

Scope of the topic 
(What is specifically to be 
included/excluded)

Accessing Services

To identify gaps in service. Specifically:
a) where a child or young person doesn’t 
meet a service’s criteria for support but 
an appropriate service to support them 
doesn’t exist.
b) support that is provided during the 
waiting times and what support would be 
beneficial to young people during this 
time.
c) early support that is evidenced, either 
in data or a young person’s experience, 
to prevent a mental health support 
referral.

Vulnerable Groups
To understand the particular needs, 
barriers and of groups of particularly 
vulnerable young people, specifically 
BME children young people, LGBT+, 
young carers, young people with 
offending behaviours and young people 
with SEND.

To establish whether these needs are 
being met by services in Salford.

There is a wealth of information and 
research available on children and 
young people’s mental health. It is 
envisaged that this group will use this 
information to support the piece of 
scrutiny, rather than replicate what 
already exists.

Who will the group meet with? As detailed above.

Page 87



How will our partners be involved? 
(consultation with relevant stakeholders 

Opportunity for partners to submit written 
evidence, be interviewed by a group 
member and to give oral evidence at a 
group meeting.

Some key partners invited specifically to 
give oral evidence.

What site visits will be undertaken? None.

How will the public be involved? Opportunity for the public to submit 
written evidence, be interviewed by a 
group member (in the event speaking to  
a panel would not be appropriate) and 
the opportunity to give oral evidence.

What evidence is needed for the 
review? 
(What information needs to be identified / 
is not already available?) 

- Data regarding vulnerable groups 
access of Salford CAMHS and 
42nd Street services.

- Existing national/local with 
recommendations to services on 
reaching out to identified 
vulnerable groups.

- CAMHS & 42nd Street waiting 
times.

- Early intervention support 
currently available.

- VCSE sector organisations who 
feel their project particularly 
benefits upon the wellbeing of 
children and young people.

Other information 
  

 

None.

Page 88



Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2019
	5 Support offer to Young Carers (Cathy Starbuck/Jane Rogers/Debbie Fallon/Sam Palmer [from Gaddam])
	Appendix 1 - Carers Strategy 2019-24 (Overview)
	Appendix 2 - Salford All Age Carers Strategy V 25  - DRAFT
	Appendix 3 - Salford All Age Carers Strategy April 2019 - 2024 (Draft Layout)

	6 The Work Programme
	Scoping document for spotlight_VFM_task  finish September 2019




